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To the County Executive and Board of Commissioners 
Macomb County Department of Roads 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the County Executive and Board of Commissioners 
Macomb County Department of Roads 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the Road 
Fund (the Department of Roads' only major fund), and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of Macomb County, Michigan) (the 
"Depanment of Roads") as of and for the year encled September 30, 20 II, which collectively 
comprise the Department of Roads' basic fmancial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
These finandal statements are the responsibility of the Department of Roads' management. Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these financiaf statements based on our alJdit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted ,in the United 
States ,of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, isslJed by the Comptroller of the United States. Those standards require that 
we pran and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether >the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finandal statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit 
proVides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

As discussed in Note I, the financial statements of the Department of Roads are intended to 
present the financial position, the changes in financial position and. where applicable, cash flows 
of only that portion of Macomb County that is attributable to the transactions of the 
Depalitment of Roads. They do not punport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of 
M'acomb County, Michigan as of September 30, 20 I I, the changes in its financial position, and 
cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the governmental activities, the Road Fund (the Department of Roads' 
only major fund), and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Macomb County 
Department of Roads as of September 30. 20 I II, the respective changes in financiaJ position and 
cash flows, and the respective budgetary comparison for the Road Fund for the year then ended, 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in ,the United States of America. 

The management's discussion and analysis is not a reqUired part of the basic financial statements 
but is supplementall information reqUired by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of 
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To the County Executive and Board of Commissioners 
Macomb County Department of Roads 

management, regarding the metlilods of measurement: and presentation of the supplemental 
information. However, we did not audit the information and expliess no opinion on it. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
March 6. 2012 on our cornsideration of the Department of Roads' internaJ control over financial 
reporting on our 'tests of its compliance with certain provisions of Ilaws. regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope 
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internall control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards and should be read with this report in ,considering the results of 
our audit. 

March 6, 2012 
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Macomb County De'partment of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and AnalySis 

As management of the Macomb County Department of Roads (the "Department of Roads"), we 
offer the readers of the Department of Roads' financial statements this narrative overview and 
analysis of the financial activities of tne Department of Roads for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 20 I I. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discllJssion and analysis is intended to provide a basis of understanding of the Department of 
Roads' b<JSic financial statements. These statements are comprised of three components: 
( I) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financiall statements, and (3) notes to the 
financial statements. The first two components are presented togetlileli on the governmental 
funds bafance sheet/statement of net assets and the statement of revenue, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances/statement of activities. 

Fj"ancia~ Analysis 

Net assets enable governmental agencies to determine their overall fiscal position. The Macomb 
County Department of Roads' net assets increased by O.S percent from a year ago, increasing 
from $797.3 million to $801.0 million. This increase was due primarily to an increase in the 
Department of Roads' capital assets. The Department of Roads completed a large amount of 
construction work in fiscal year 20 I I. Many were new road projects and some were carried 
over from prior years. In addition, the Department of Roads completed! man,y signaJ optimization 
and modernization projects. The value of this infrastructure is included in the statement of net 
assets. In a condensed format, the table ,below shows the comparison of net assets (in millions 
of dollars) as of September 30, 20 II to the prior year. 

Condensed Statement of Net Assets 
September 30. September 30, 

2011 2010 

Assets
 
Current assets $ 72.6 $ 74.9
 

Capital and other noncur;rent assets 

Tota! assets 

739.4 

812.0 

734.1 

809.0 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 

Long-term liabilities outstanding 

8.6 
l.S 

9.8 
1.9 

Total liabilities ILl 11.7 

Net Assets 
Invested in capital assets 

Restricted ror roads 

735.9 
65.1 

732.5 
64.8 

Total net assets $ 801.0' $ 797.3 

5 

6



Macomb Courity Department of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Net invested in capital assets increased from $732.5 million in fiscal yeM 2010 to $735.9 million 
in fiscal year 20 II ~. This increase was a, result of new linfrastructure being added. Restricted net 
assets other than those invested in capital assets, which finance the day-to-day operations of 
road activity and the future growth of Macomb County for infrastructure, were $65./ million at 
September 30, 2011. This amount increased approximately 0.5 percent from last year's 
restricted net assets of $64.8 million. 

The following table shows the changes in net assets (in millions of dollars) as of September 30, 
2011 and the prior year: 

Condensed Statement of Adivities 

Year Ended September 30 

2011 2010 

Revenue 
State aid $ 36.7 $ 37.0 
Federal sources 19.2 25.6 
Local and other sources 11.5 14.5 

Land and roads released from developers 8.1 13.9 

Tota! revenue 75.5 91.0 

Expenses 
Maintenance and equipment 17.7 13.5 
Administrative 15.8 16.8 

Depreciation 38.4 37.2 

Tota! expenses 71.9 67.S 

Increase in Net Assets $ 3.6 $ 23.5 

Statement of Activities 

The Department of Roads' total, reverilUe decreased 17 percent from the prior year. The 
revenue from federal and local sources decreased 25 percent due to the funds received on road 
construction projects. Several large construction projects were arrniedl forward to next fiscal 
year, and the revenues from those projects willi be recordedl when recei,ved. In addition, a large 
decrease was experienced in tile land and roads being released from developers. Expenses 
increased approximately $4.4 million over last year. The increase was seen primarily in the 
maintenance and equipment line. This was due to the harsh wili1ter that was experienced and 
the expenses incurred to maintain the roads. OveraJl, net assets increased $3.6 million from the 
prior year. 
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Macam'b County, Department of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Contlnuecl) 

Road Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Pnior to beginning each new fiscal year, the Macomb County Department of Roads' budget is 
prepared based upon certain assumptions and facts available at that time. Throughout the year, 
the Road Department amends the budget to reflect changes in these original assumptions, facts, 
and/or economic conditions that were uli1~nown at the lime the original budget was adopted. 
These amendments are approved by the County Board. The Department of Roads amended its 
2011 budget on several occasions during the year to reflect changes in equipment expense. 
maintenance expense, and status. changes in budgeted construction projects. Final expenditures 
were $15,.8 million lower than the original budget due primarily to changes in construction 
projects and reductions in staffing. The Macomb. COUrilty Department of Roads has made great 
efforts to reduce staffing and benefit costs through attrition. Since fiscal year 2004, the 
Department of Roads has reduced the work force from 311 employees to the current level of 
230 employees, resulting in a 26 percent decrease in staffing levels. The actual revenue for fiscal 
year 20 I I was also lower than the budgeted amount. With several construction projects being 
rolled over to fiscal year 2012, the revenue sharing on these projects will also be recognized in 
2012. The Department of Roads secured construction contracts of apprOXimately $23.6 million, 
and actual expenditures on these contracts were less than what was budgeted. 

Capital Assets 

The Department of Roads had $735.9 million in net capital assets at the end of the fiscal year. 
This amount represents a net increase of $3.4 million from the previous year. The Department 
of Roads added $41.8 milliolil to its investment in capttaI assets during the current year, including 
apprOXimately $35.4 million of infrastructure additions. The recorded amount of the 
infrastructure assets net of depreciation contained in this report is $514.6 million and 
$515.5 milljon for fiscal years 2011 and 2010, respectively. The infrastructure will continue to 
be the largest asset class. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget 

Reductions in revenue sharing will directly affect the local units of government. This will, in turn, 
affect the amount of funds the local units will have available to participate in road projects. 
Although the Macomb COUlilty Department of Roads experienced consistent funding in Michigan 
Transportation Funds (MTF) as compared to fiscal year 2010, MTF revenue is expected to 
decrease slightly in ftscaJ year 2012. Ml"F dollars are the main source of income to cover 
operating expenses of the Department of Roads, including all road maintenance expenses and 
the Department of Roads' shar'e of construction expense. Without adequate increases in MTF 
revenue and revenue sharing, the Macomb COUli'lty Department of Roads has diminishing 
resources for road improvements and maintenance activities. This decrease willli directly impact 
the number of road projects that canl be undertaken, as weill as the level, of maintenance work 
the Macomb County Depalitment of Roads can provide. The Department of Roads continues to 
face challenging financial times. Revenue and expenditures will be monitored throughout the 
year to assure fiscal responsibility. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Contacting the Department of Roads' Management 

This financia!l report is designed to provide a general overview of the Department of Roads' 
finances and to show accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the 
infonnation provided in this repOIiit or requests for additional financial information should be 
addressed to the Macomb County Department of Roads, Michelle M. Mykytiak. Finance 
Director. For more specific information regarding construction projects, contact Robert 
Hoepfner, Director of Roads. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Nonmajor Fund 

Total 

Major Fund- Capital Govemmental 

Road Projects Funds 

Assets 

Cash and investments (Note 4) $ 47,133,336 $ 1,431,683 $ 48.565,019 
Receivables: 

State of MiChig3Jl 8,005,710 8,005,710 
Construction accounts receivable 56,739 56.739 
Accrued interest receivable 55,818 55.818 
Other 413,183 413,183 
Current portion of note receivable 

Invemory 4,554.688 4,554,688 
Surplus properties 232,403 232,403 
Prepaid costs and othel 1,018,128 /,0/8,128 
Note receivable 
Net OPEB asset (Note 7) 
Capital assets (Note 5): 

Assets not being depreciated 

Assets being depreciated - Net 

Tota! assets $ 61,470,005 $ 1,431,683 $ 62,901,688 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 

Uablllties 
Liabilities due within one year: 

Accounts payable $ 2,885,213 $ $ 2,885,213 
Advances 4,213,976 4,213,976 
Deposits 
Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 
Accrued workers' compensation (Note 6) 
Accrued liabilities and other 
Current portion of note payable 

Liabilities due in greater than one year: 
Provision for unil'\$ured losses (Note 6) 
Accrued workers' compensation liabilities (Note 6) 
Notes payable 
Accrued sick and vacation 

Total liabilities 

Fund Balances - Restricted for roads 52,914.882 1,431,683 54.346.565 

Total fund balances 52,91'1.882 1,431,683 54,346,565 

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 61,470,005 $ 1,431,683 $ 62,901,688 

Net Assets 
Invested in capital assets 
Restrieted- for roads 

1iotal net assets 

636,660 636,660 

31,985 31,985 
787,289 787,289 

8,555,123 8,555.123 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 9 
Integral Part of this Statement. 
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Governmental Funcls Balance Sheet/Statement of Net Assets 

Adjustments 

(Note 2) 

$ 9,620,5]6 $ 

123,749 

1.091,595 
2.431.003 

198,637.361 
537,267,921 

749,ln,165 

25,521 

(92,356) 
123,749 

24,067 
94,775 

1,091,595 
1,243,864 

1,511,215 

(54,346,565) 

(54,346,565) 

(5 I,835,350) 

735,905,282 
65,102,233 

$ 80 1,007,51 S $ 

september 30. 20 I I 

Statement of 

Net Assets 

58, ~85,555 

8.005,710
 
56,739
 
55,818
 

413,183
 
12].749
 

4,554.688
 
232,403
 

1.018,128
 
1,091,595
 
2.431,003
 

198,637,]61
 
537.267,921
 

812,On,853 

2,885,21]
 
4,213,976
 

636,660
 
25,521
 
],1,985
 

694,93]
 
123,749
 

24,067 
94,775
 

1,091,595
 
1,24],864
 

11,066.338 

11,066.338 

735,905,282 
65,102,233 

801,007.51 S 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

No nm>jor Fund 
'OCll 

Malar Fund· c.plt3l Govern me,n:.1 

Ro3cl !'To,«ts FunOs 

!leYe""" 
li<:en.... perm;"',_lees $ nS.5Oi $ S nS.SOi 
F<!<leral3icllor Con>lnI<<ion 19,007,747 /9,007,7"7 
Feder31 gnnt money 20l.81S 203.815 
Sate f"eVe1'Mle: 

Mkhpn r......pon:otjon Fund 34,158,530 14,158,5J1l 
Build Mid.... F\lIld 1..'12S,:z.s.t 1.425.:z.s.t 
S..... CriOaIIlridF '179,112 '179.112 
Con~ from local u_, 

Cibos 566,187 56b-.187 
T.,......"._~ U07.802 1,307.801 
COlfty 780.393 780.J9J 

Ch4'lOS Iot-..., 
StaDe ~ _ ...enance 7,037.7&4 7.037.1&l 
Stale nol'lJAM1t.etaoe:e 159,781 159.781 

OOer" revenue: 
Cltieo, """n.hips. _ other 1.l96..6$-4 1.296.654 
InspettjOftS 3.716 3,716 
L>.oo .00 rom. relused fn>m ~n 

Open.tin& income from int8rRaJ servICe fynd 
rnteA!lt 192.....8 5.191 197.~1 

~Ie of btId, prope«y. ren!31. .00 odler 71,'m 71,911 

Tool revenue: 61,616,719 5,193 61,6'1.9', 

Expend~_.CUrYeot 

Prim:ilryr~ 16.•1.613 26.1183.621 
loGd rood. 8.231.832 8.B1.832 
Prim.ry brid&eS 4.245.825 4.245.815 

131,101loGd """'ReS DUOI 
Non-ro.d projects 1.3'20.652 tno.652 
S~temiintenJl"'lOl!: '1.610.#0 4.610,#0 
~tate noM'lalnte:nance 101.470 101.4ro 
E<lUlpmeot reI1C1J erellits. Net of eqUipment""_ 

exdod"'l (rInge (~.819'1 (~.e191 

EnJI;".,...;ng 1.I08.llS l.I06,ll5 
Adm....ntN@ S'l5.832 545.832 

928.11J 928, 113 
[);otrfb~tM! li1nge benefit> IS.595.833 1>'595.833 
......peclio'" and ""'er 
0<11... dislTitlutM> ox_ 4.6CO,820 'I.6CO.820 
Capital outlay - Net of dep_iUIOn ere<!;'" (184,811) (284,811) 

Depr""btioflexpenoe 

68.536.846To..I""p<!ndlnJ""'~ 68,536,8'16 

exoe.. 01 _nue o..r (\Inele'l') Expe nell tv re>/ 
0....... In N.t ANe.. (910.127) 5.193 (914.934) 

Oth,,, Finane.". Sou"",. <Uses> • T~ 179.>83 (l79.lBJ) 

hces.. of Rove".... and Ot"- Fh..nd,. So"...- (u_) 
Ower (\Ind6<) Expondi'ures/OWlze I" Ne. ANet< (640,744j (274,190) (914.934) 

~.S55.626 1.705.873 55.261.499Fund lI.aJ~etAsse'"- October I. 2010 

Funel llaJat'oC65/Het _ ... Seftem bet" 10. 1.011 S ~,91",88:2 S 1,431,683 S S4,:J#,~5 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an II 
Integral Part of this Statement. 
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Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes In 
Fund BalanceS/Statement of Activities 

Year Ended september 30, 10 I I 

Adlumnenu Scatem_o( 

(Note 2) ActMlies 

$ $ 315.504 
19.007.H7 

203.815 

J.4,7SS.530 
1.42S.lS-4 

479.112 

511.769 
1.307.802 

180.393 

1.037,784 
147,S:J9 

(5.868) 1.290.186 
3,n6 

8.095,9&1 8.095.984 
(199.883) (199.883~ 

34.849 232.490 

(22.496) 49.435 

7.895.92S 75.517.837 

( 19.069.987) 7,813.636 
(2.549.934) 5.681.898 
(4,245.825) 

(237.701) 
2,320,652 
4.610.440 

101.470 

(646.819) 
1.108.335 

545.632 
928.113 

(3.165.194) 12.430.639 
(3.884.41 I) 776.409 
(1.883,570) (2.168.381) 

38.379.363 38.379.363 

3.342.741 71.879.587 

4.553.184 3.638,250 

4.553.184 3,638,250 

H2.107.766 791:J69.265 

$ 74'__"0,950 $ 801.007,515 
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Macomb County Department Of Roads
 

Original Amel1ded 

Budget Budget Actual 

Revenue 
Lice rISeS. permIts, and fees $ 631.500 $ 426.500 $ 325.504 
Federal aid for construction 21.330.291 17.630.291 19.007.747 
Federal grant money 4.015.300 1,000.000 203.8\5 
St3re revenue: 

Michigan Trnrosportation Fund 32.610,000 34.110,000 34.758.530 
Build Michigan Fund 1.296.000 1.296.000 1.425.254 
Stale Critical Bridge 4.370.000 1.000.000 479.112 

Conlributiol15 from kx:aI units: 
Cities 981.230 981.130 566.187 
Townships 3,329.984 1.500.000 1.307.802 

48.},650 700.000 780.393 

5.759,461 5.759.461 7.037.784 
State nonmaintenance 700.000 700,000 159.782 

Otf1er revenue: 
Cities. townships. and other 1.005.000 1,033.731 1.296,65-4 
Inspections 165.550 160.372 3.776 
Interest 177.238 200.000 192.446 

~e of land, property. rental. and other 82,500 152.+43 71.931 

Tot:ll revenue 76.937.704 66,650.028 67.616,719 

bpenditures - Current 
Primary roads 3·4,373.345 25,146,506 26.883.623 
Local roads 9.071.063 8.571.063 8.231.832 
Primary bridges 6.999,161 5.449,161 'I.HS.82S 
Local bridges 65.000 232,677 237.701 
Local drain 100.000 100.000 
Primary drain 100.000 100.000 
Nonroad projectS '1,'101.900 2,-401.900 2.320,652 
State maintenance 3.642,377 3,642,377 4.610 .."140 
State nonmaintenance 601.000 601,000 101,470 
Equipment rental credits - Net of equlpmel1t expense. exduding fringe (1.095.266) (191.822) (618,8/9) 
Eng.ineering 1,055,000 1.255.000 1,108,335 
Ad minist rative 1,027,460 1,027,460 545.832 
Inspection~ and other 1,040,760 1,003.260 926.113 
Distributive fringe benefits 18.459.500 16.709,500 15.595,633 
Other distributive expense 5.575.365 5.075,365 4.660.820 

CapIta! 0 utIay - Net of dep reel atl 0 n cred its (1.015,046) (1,015.046) (28:4,611) 

Toral expenditu res 84,401,619 70,108,401 68,536,846 

excess of Expenditure~Over Revenue (7.463.915) (3.458,373) (920.127) 

Other F1 nancing Source$ - Transfers 275,000 279.383 

Ex~ of Expenditures Over Revenue and Other financing Sou~e$ (7.463.915) (3.183.373) (64<),74'1) 

Fund Balance - October I. 2010 53,555.626 53.555.626 53,555.626 

Fund Balance - September 30. 201 I $ 46,091,711 $ 50,372,253 $ 52,914,882 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 13 
Integral Part of this Statement. 

County 
Charges for 5eNices: 

State trunkline maintenance 

Road Fund 
BllClsetary'Comparison SChedule 
Year Ended september 30, 20 I I 
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Totalliabilities 

Restricted for Roads 

49,588 

9,570,948 

Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Proprietary Fand • Internal service Fund 
General liability se....insurance FuncI 

statement of Net Assets 
september 30, 2011 

Assets - Current - Cash and investments (Note 4) 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities - Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 
Noncurrent liabilities - Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 

Net Assets 

$ 9,620,536 

25,521 

24,067 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of this Statement. 14 
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Macomb Cou~ Department of ,Roads
 

Proprietary Fund iii Intemal Service Fund 
General Uablltty Self-Insurance Fund 

[Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes In Net Assets 
Year Ended[ september 30, 20 I I 

Operating Expenses 

Settlements, premiums, and other $ 191,038 

Change in allowance for claims incurred but not reported 8,845 

(199,883)Operating Loss 

Nonoperating Revenue - Interest income 34,849 

Decrease in Net Assets 

Net Assets - End of year 

Net Assets - Beginning of year 

(165,034) 

9,735,982 

$ 9,570,948 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of th is Statement. 15 
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Macolllb County Department of Roads
 

Proprietary Fund - Intemal service Fund 
General UabiUty Se~lnsunnceFunci 

statement of cash Flows 
Year laded September 30, 20 I I 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities - Claims, settlements, 
premiums, and other items paid $ (191,038) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Interest received on investments 34,849 
Net proceeds and purchases of investment securities 156,189 

Net cash provided by investing activities 191.038 

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from Operating 
Activities 

Operating loss $ (199,883) 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash from operating 

activities - Change in provision for uninsured losses and liabilities 8,845 

Net cash used in operating activities $ (191,038) 

ReconciliatjQn to Balance Sheet. 
Cash and investrflents recorded on balance sheet/statement of net assets $ 9,620,536 
tess fixed-term in,vestments (9,620,536) 

Tota.l $ 

Noncash Investing. Capital, and Financing Activities - During the year ended 
September 30, 20 II, there were no noncash investing, capital, or financing activities. 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of this Statement. 16 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial statements 
september 30J 20 I I 

N'ote I • SignHicant Accounting PoUcies 

The Macomb County Department of Roads (the "Department of Roads") is a 
department of Macomb County, Michigan responsible for the maintenance and 
construction of the road system in Macomb County. The Department of Roads' 
financiaJ statements will be included in the basic financial statements of the County of 
Macomb, Michigan. Transactions Ibetween the Department of Roads and the 
County of Macomb, Michigan primarily relate to the cost sharing of construction 
projects that were administered by the Department of Roads, which were not 
significant dUring the year. 

The accounting policies of the Department of Roads conform to accounting 
principles generalty accepted in the United States of America (GMP) as applicable 
to governmental units. The following is a summary of the significant accounting 
policies: 

Reporting Entity 

The Department of Roads administered by the County Executive of Macomb 
County. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, these financial statements present the Macomb County 
Department of Roads. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America, there are no component units included in these 
financial statements. 

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-Wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the activities of the Department 
of Roads. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from 
these statements. The Department of Roads consists solely of governmental-type 
activities; no business-type activities exist. 

The fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds and are included 
in the government-wide financial statements. Major and nonmajor individual 
governmental funds are reported as separate columns. Separate finandaJ statements 
are provided for the proprietary fund. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note I .. SlgnHicant AccountlngPoUcles (Continued) 

Measurement Focus. Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement 
Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the 
proprietary fund financial statements. Revenue is recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flbws. Grants and similar items are recognized! as revenue as soon as aJl 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financiaJ 
resources measurement focus and the modified accl"'ual basis of accounting. 
Revenue is recognized as soon as it is both measurable and available. Revenue is 
considered to be available if it is collected within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Department 
of Roads considers revenue to be available if it is collected within 60 days of the end 
of the current fiscal period. Amounts collected beyond this time period are 
recorded as defe·rred revenue. Revenue related to construction projects and 
inspection work orders is recognized when the related costs are incurred, subject to 
the availability criterion. Billings on the contracts include a provision for fringe 
benefits and overhead. No profit is recognized on these contracts. Interest. 
associated with the current fiscal period is considered susceptible to accrual and has 
been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period. Other revenue is recorded 
when received. 

!Expenditures generally are recorded, when a liability is incurred!, as under accrlllal 
accounting. 'Expenditures for construction and work orders are recognized as the 
work progresses. Amoulilts billed to other governmental units for participation in 
construction or for work orders include equipment usage charges based on 
predetermined rates. lihese rates are designed to cover direct equipment operating 
costs, which include depreciation recorded within the government-wide statements. 
However, expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, 
accounted for within the Road Fund, are recorded only when payment is due. 

The Road Fund is the Department of Roads' only major governmental fund and is 
used to account for the proceeds of earmarked revenue or financing activities 
requiring separate accounting because of legal or reguLatory provisions. 
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Macomb County Department of IRoads
 

Notes to Financial statements 
september 3~ 20 I I 

Note I • Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Additionall¥, the Department of Roads reports tlhe foll'owing fund type: 

Internal Service Fund - The Internal Service Fund is a proprietary fund type and 
aCCOUJ1lts for risk management services prOVided to the Road Fund on a cost
reimbursement basis. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue andJ operating expenses from 
nonoperating items. Operating revenue and expenses generally result from 
providing services in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing 
operations. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenue and expenses. 

Assets, Liabilities, and Net Assets or Equity 

Cash Equivalents - For the purpose of the statement of cash flows. the 
Department of Roads does not include fixed-term investments (such as certificates 
of deposit) as cash eqUivalents. Only cash items (cash on hand, checking accounts, 
and savings accounts) are included. 

Investments - Fixed-term investments are reported at fair value, which 
approximates cost due to maturity dates. 

Inventory and Prepaid Costs - Inventory consists prinapaJly of road salt, signs, 
and equipment maintenance materials and is valued at the lower of average cost or 
market. llilventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when 
consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs 
applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid costs in both 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Surplus Properties - Surplus properties are recorded at the lower of acquisition 
cost or market. 

Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and 
infrastructure assets (e.g., roads" bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported 
in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the 
Department of Roads as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $1,000 and 
an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are [recorded at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets 
are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Note I 

Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

- StlllHtcant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Capital assets are depreciated using the straigtlt-'iil1e method over the following 
useful lives: 

Buildings 50 years 
Land improvements 20 years 
Road and other equipment 3-25 years 
Infrastructure 8-50 years 

Compensated Absences (Vacation and Sick Leave) - It is the Department of 
Roads' policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick and 
vacation pay benefits. The government-wide statement of net assets accrues all 
vacation and personal pay as it is earned and sick pay as it is used or vested 
(whichever is earlier). A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental 
funds as it comes due for payment (when time is taken off or the employee is 
terminated). 

Long-term Obligations - In the government-wide financial statements, long-term 
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities. 

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions, such as provisions for uninsured 
losses, that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Pension and Other Postemployment Benefit Costs - The Department of Roads 
offers both pension and retiree healthcare benefits to retirees. The Department of 
Roads receives an actuarial valuation to compute the annual reqUired contribution 
(ARC) necessary to fund the obligation over the remaining amortization period. In 
the governmental funds, pension and OPES costs are recognized as contributions 
are made. For the government-wide statements and proprietary funds, the 
Department of Roads reports the fuJi accrual cost equall to the current year reqUired 
contribution, adjusted for imer'est and "adjustment to the ARC" 001 the beginning of 
year underpaid amount. if any. 

Fund Equity - In March 2009, the GASB issued Statement No. 54, Fund 8a(ance 
Reporting and Governmental Fund-type Definitions. The objective o~ this statement is 
to enhance the usefulness of fund' balance information by proViding dearer fund 
balance classifications that can be more consistently applied and by clarifying the 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 10 III 

Note I • SignHicant Accounting Policies (Conttn~ 

existing governmental fund-type definitions. This statement establishes fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a 
government is bound to observe constraints imposed on the use of the resources 
reported in governmental funds. Under this standard, the fund balance classifications 
of reserved, designated, andl unreserved/undesignated were replaced with five new 
classifications· nonspendable. restricted, committed. asSigned. and u.nassigned. The 
Department of Roads implemented Statement No. 54 during tl1e year. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report the following 
components of fund balance: 

•	 Nonspendable: Amounts that are not in spendable form or are legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact. 

•	 Restricted: Amounts that are legally restricted by outside parties, 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation for use for a specific purpose. 
All of the Department of Roads' fund balance is legally restricted by Act 5 I 
and related Michigan laws. 

•	 Committed: Amounts that have been formally set aside by the County 
Board of Commissioners foo use for specific purpo·ses. Commitments are 
made and can, be rescinded only via resolution of the Board of 
Commissioners. 

•	 Assigned: Intent to spend resources on specific purposes expressed by the 
governing body. 

•	 Unassigned: Amounts that do not faJl into any other category above. This is 
the residuall dassification for amounts in the general fund and represents fund 
balance that has not been assigned to other funds and Ihas not been 
restricted, committed or assigned to spedfic purposes in the general fund. 
In other governmental funds, only negative unassigned amounts are reported, 
if any, and represent expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeding 
the amounts preViously restricted, committed or assigned to those purposes. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to FinancJal Statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note 1 ~ Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial 
Statem-a 

Amounts reported in the government-wide financial statements are different frorm 
amounts reported in the governmental funds because of the following: 

Governmental funds fund balance $ 54,346,565 
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 

resources and are not reported in the funds 735,90S.282 
State and local receivables are not available to pay for current 

year expenditures and are therefore deferred in the 
governmental funds 92,356 

Noncurrent compensated absences and provisions for workers' 
compensation uninsured losses are not reported 
in the funds (1,338,639) 

Note payable is not due and payable in the current period 
and is not reported in the funds (1,215,344) 

Other long-term assets, such as net OPEB assets and loans 
receivable, do not present an asset on current financial 
resources and are not reported as fund assets 3.646.347 

Internal Service Funds are included as governmental activities 9,570,948 

Government-wide net assets 801,007,515 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 2.0 I I 

Note .1 - Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial 
Statements (Continued) 

Net change in fund balances - Total government funds $ (914,934) 

Governmental funds report capital outlay as an expenditure;
 
in the statement of activities, these costs are allocated
 
over their estimated useful lives as depreciation:
 

Capital outlay expenditures 33.660,308 
Depreciation expense (38,379,363) 

In the governmental funds. state and local revenue not
 
collected within 60 days of year end is not available to
 
pay for current year expenditures. whereas in the
 
statement of activities, revenue is recognized when
 
earned (35,025) 

In the statement of activities, land and roads released from 
developers are reported as revenue at the fair market 
value and the fixed asset is capitalized 8,095,984 

Changes in accumulated employee sick and vacation pay are
 
recorded when earned in the statement of activities and
 
reported in the fund statements when they come due for
 
payment
 108,695 

Changes in other liabilities, such as net OPEB obligations. 
reported in the statement of activities do not require the 
use of current resources and are therefore not reported 
in the fund statements 1,267,619 

Internal Service Funds are also included as governmental 
activities (165,034) 

Change in net assets of governmental activities $ 3,638,250 

Note 3 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

The annuallbudget is prepared by the Finance Director and adopted by the County 
Board of Commissioners; subsequent amendments are approved by the County 
Board of Commissioners. Unexpended appropniations lapse at year end; 
encumbrances are not included as expenditures. The amount of encumbrances 
outstanding at September 30, 2011 I has not been calculated. The budget was 
amended in a legally permissible manner. 
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Macomb County Department of 'Roads
 

Notes to FInancial Statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note :I - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (Continued) 

The Road iFund budget has been adopted on an activity basis and prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; expenditures at this level in excess of amounts budgeted are a violation of 
Michigan law. There were no significant budget variances lin the Road Fund. The 
budgetary comparison schedule as presented on page I 1 is shown on a condensed 
basis from tine budget as formally adopted. Copies of the adopted budget are 
available for comparison at the Department of Roads offices. 

Note 4 - Deposits and Investments 

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of '1943, as amended) 
authorizes local governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of 
federally insured banks. credit unions, and savings and Iloan ,associations that have 
offices in Michigan. The Department of Roads is allowed to invest in bonds, 
securities, and other direct obligations of the United States or any agency or 
instrumentality of the United States; repurchase agreements; bankers' acceptances 
of United S,tates banks; commercial paper rated within the two highest 
classifications, which matiJres not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; 
obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions, which are rated as 
investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal 
for direct investment by local units of government in Michigan. The Department of 
Roads has adopted an investment policy in accordance with the statutory authority. 

The Department of Roads has designated nine banks for the deposit of its funds. 
The investment policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 
1"997 has authorized investment in certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasury bills, and 
bank investment pools, but not the remainder of state statutory authority as [listed 
above. The Department of Roads' deposits and investment policies are in 
accordance with statutory authority. 

The Department of Roads' cash and investments are subject to custodial credit risk, 
which is examined in more detail below: 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 10 I I 

Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

Custodial Credit 'Risk of Bank Deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the frisk that in the event of a bank failure, the Department of 
Roads' deposits may not be returned to it. The Department of Roads has adopted a 
deposit policy for custodiall credit risk which limits the Department of Roads' 
investment in an individual institution to no more than I percent of the institution's 
equity and no more than 15 percent of tlile Department of Roads' total deposit 
balance. At year end, $52,556,553 of the Department of Roads' total deposit 
balance (certificates of deposit, checking, and savings accounts) of $52,748,673 was 
uninsured and uncollateralized. The Departnnent of Roads believes that due to the 
dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it lis impractical! to 
insure all deposits. As a result. the Department of Roads evaluates each financial' 
institution with which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each 
institution; only those institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level are used as 
depositories. 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the Department of Roads will not be able to recover the value of its investments or 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Department 
of Roads does nOt have a policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the 
Department was invested in two money market funds and therefore had no credit 
Risk. 
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Macom,ti Coilnty Department of Roads 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 10I I 

Note 5 - Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the current year was as follows: 

Beginning Disposals I Ending 

Governmental Activities Balance Additions Adjustments Balance 

Capital assets not being 
depreciated - Land $ 194, 134,333 $ 4,503,028 $ $ 198,6]7,361 

Capital assets being depredated: 
Land improvements 1,399,134 40,900 1,358,234 
Buildings 25,395,952 20,257 264.000 25,132,209 
Road equipment 24,589,591 1,182,099 584,479 25,487,211 
Other equipment 4,42],087 473,694 46,861 4,849,920 

Infrastructure 976,614, L07 35,369,694 1,0 I 1,983,80 I 

Subtotal 1.032,421.871 37,345,744 956,240 1,068,811.375 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Land improvementS 1,020,335 60,903 36,291 1,044,947 
Buildings 7,358,155 505,452 201,640 7,661,967 
Road equipment 21,398,3Q8 1.289,321 581,235 22,106,394 
Other equipment 3,128.418 180,533 44,594 3,364,357 

Infrastru(ture 461,122,635 36,243,15-4 497,365,789 

Subtotal 49·4.027,851 38,379,363 863,760 531,543,'154 

Net capital assets being 

depreciated 538,394,020 (1,033,619) 92,480 537,267,921 

Net capital assets $ 732,528,353 $ 3.469,409 $ 92,480 $ 735,905,282 

Construction Commitments - The Department of Roads has 25 significant active 
projects at year end with an estimated obligation to the Department of Roads of 
$10,491,845. The Department of Roads' cumulative expenditures and estimated 
remaining commitment with these contractors as of September 30, 20 I I are 
$7,664,348 arnd $2,827,496, respectively. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note 6 - Risk Manageme~ 

The Department of Roads is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, 
torts, errors and omissions, and employee in;ude~ (workers' compensation). as well 
as medical benefits provided to employees. The Department of Roads has 
purchased commercial insurance for medical benefits provided to employees but is 
self-funded for general liability incidents and workers' compensation claims up to a 
retention amount, at which tirme the Department of Roads' reinslllrance begins. 
Retention amounts during the year endedl September 30, 20 I I were $5,OOOtOOO and 
$325.000 for general liability and workers' compensation, respectively. Settled 
claims relating to the commerdal insurance have not exceeded the amOUl1t of 
insurance coverage in any of the past four fiscal years. 

General liability Claims 

Beginning January 17, 1993. the Department of Roads assumes costs for general 
liability claims, including all cost associated with those claims, Within certain limits. 
The Department of Roads is liable for losses up to a retention amount per claim and 
is liable for losses in excess of the maximum insurance coverage. 

The Department of Roads estimates the liability for general liability claims that have 
been incurred through the end of the fiscal year. including both those claims that 
have been reported as well as those that have not yet been reported. The 
Department of Hoads has been named defendant in numerous claims and lawsuits 
requesting damages of various amounts, the majority of which do not state a specific 
maximum. It is the opinion of legal counsel and management that reasonable 
estimates of the Department of Roads' liability for these matters have been 
recorded in the General Liability Self-insurance Fund as oudined below. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note 6 • RJsk Management (ContInued) 

Changes in the estimated recorded liability for the past toNo fiscal years were as 
fdllows: 

2011 2010 

Estimated liability - Beginning of year $ 40,743 $ 76,599 

Increase in estimated claims incurred, 

including changes in estimates 29,966 (30,635) 

Claim payments (21,121) (5.221 ) 

Estimated liability - End of year $ 49,588 $ 40,743 

There are also eenain property damage-related lawsuits currently pending against 
the Department of Roads daiming amounts for damages and relief without stated 
limitations. These lawsuits have not yet progressed to the point where a legal 
opinion can be reached as to the ultimate liability, if any, which may result from the 
resolution of these cases. In the opinion of Department of Roads' management and 
legal counsel', the probable additional exposure of the Department of Roads for 
these lawsuits or any other legal matter is immaterial to the financial statements. 

Workers' Compensation Claims 

The Department of Roads assumes costs for workers' compensation claims within 
certain limits. 

The Department of Road's estimates the liability for workers' compensation claims 
that have beeli1 incurred trnrough the end of the fiscal year, i'nduding both those 
claims that have been re,ported as well as th~e that have not yet been reported. 
The current portion of these estimates is recorded in the Road Fund. The 
government-wide balance sheet/statement of net assets includes the current and 
long-term portions of these estimates. Changes in the es"tima~ed liability for the past 
toNo fiscal years were as follows: 
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Macomb CountY Department of Roads
 
Notes to Flnancl=-I statements 

September 30, 20 I I 

Note 6 - Risk Management (Continued) 

2011 2010 

Estimated liability - Beginning of year $ 181,790 $ 428,100 

Increase (decrease) ill estimated claims 

incurred, including changes in estimates 29,590 (129,690) 
Claim payments (84,620) (I 16,620) 

Estimated liability - End of year $ 126,760 $ 18',790 

Note 7 - Other PostenIpIoyment Beneftta 

The Department of Roads provides retiree healthcare benefits to eligible employees 
and their spouses through the Macomb County Department of Roads Retiree Health 
Care Plan (the "Plan"). This is an agent multiple-employer defined benefit plan 
administered by the Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan (MERS). 
The benefits are provided under collective bargaining agreements. 

The collective bargaining agreements require no contribution from employees. The 
Department of Roads has no obligation to make contributions in advance of when 
,the insurance premiums are due for payment (in other words, this may be financed 
on a "pay-as-you-go" basis). However, as shown below, the Department of Roads 
has made contributions to advance-fund these benefits, as determined by the 
County Board of Commiss;oners through annual budget resolutions. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note 7 .. other Postemployment IBeneftts (Continued) 

For the year ended September 30, 20 I I, the Department of Roads has estimated 
the cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31,2009. The valuatkm computes an annual required contribution, which 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover 
normall cost each year and amortize amy unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period 
not to exceed 30 years. This valuation's computed contnibution and actual funding 
are summarized as follows: 

Annual required contribution (recommended) $ 5,765,799 

Amounts contributed: 

Payments of current premiums and other adjustments 4,033,418 
Advance funding 3.000,000 

Increase in net OPEB asset 1,267,619 

OPEB asset - Beginning of year 1,163,384 

OPEB asset - End of year $ 2,431,003 

The annual other postemployment benefits (OPEB) costs, the percentage 
contributed to the Plan, and the net OPEB asset for the years ended September 30 
were as follows: 

2011 2010 2009 

Annual OPEB costs $ 5,765,799 $ 6,617,951 $ 6.302,811 
Percentage contributed 121.99% 103.46% 131.02% 
Net OPEB asset $ 2,431,003 $ 1,163,384 $ 934,427 

The funding progress of the Plan is as follows: 

2009 2007 

Valuation as of December 3 1: 
Actuarial value of assets $ 15,047,927 $ 9,621,290 
Actuarial accrued liability $ 83,364.455 $ 87,898,593 
Unfunded AAL $ 68,316,528 $ 78.277,303 

FUAded ratio 18% 11% 
Annual covered payroll $ 14,421.101 $ 14,621,336 

Batio of UAAL to covered payroll 474% 535% 
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Notes to Flnanclall statements 
september 30t 20 I I 

Note 7 .. other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 

Actuarial valuations of .an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the 
future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the 
healthcare cost trend. Amounts determfned regarding the funded status of the Plan 
and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are 
made about the future. 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive 
plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include 
the types of benefits prOVided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern 
of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. 
The actuarial methods and assumptions used indude techniques that are designed to 

reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the 
actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
calculations. 

llil the December 31, 2009 actuarial valuation, the entry age actuarial cost method 
was used. The actuarial assumptions included an 8 percent investment rate of return 
(net of administrative expenses), and an annual healthcare cost tr'end rate of 
9 percent il1i,tially, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5 percent after 10 
years. Both r.ates included -a 5 percent inflation assumption. The actuariaJ vaJue of 
assets was determined using techniques tlilat spread the effects of short-term 
volatility in the market value of investments over a five-year period. The UAAL is 
being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis. The 
remaining amortiz:ation period at December 31, 2009 was 28 years. 

Note 8 - Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Plan Description 

The Department of Roads contributes to the Macomb County Employees' 
Retirement System, an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers all full-time employees of the Department of Roads. The Macomb County 
Employees' Retirement System provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to 
plan members and their beneficiaries. The Macomb County Employees' Retirement 
System issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements 
and required supplemental information for the Macomb County Employees' 
Retirement System. That report may be obtained by writing to the Retirement 
Commission at 10 N. Main, Mt. Clemens, Michigan 48043. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Nc:H:es to Financial Statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note 8 - DefIned Benefit Pension Plan (Continued) 

Funding Policy: 

The obligation to contribute to and maintain the Macomb County Employees' 
Retirement System for these employees was established by negotiation with the 
Department of Roads' competitive bargaining units and requires a contribution of 3.5 
percent of gross wages for all employees. 

Annual Pension Cost 

For the valuation year ended December 3 I. 20 IO. tihe Department of Roads' annual 
pension cost of $2,053.642 for the plan was equal to the Department of Roads' 
required and actual contribution of $2,OS3,6~1 which was remitted to the County of 
Macomb. The annual reqUired contribution was determined as part of an actuarial 
valuation at December 3 I, 20 10, using the entry actual age cost method. Sign if! canc 
actuarial assumptions used include (a) a 7.5 percent investment rate of return, (b) 
projected salary increases of 5 percent per year, compounded annually and 
attributable to inflation, (c) additional projected salary increases of up to 
6 percent per year, depending on service and attributable to seniority/merit, and (d) 
the assumption tnat benefi.u will not increase after retirement. The actuarial value 
of assets was determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-term 
volatility over a five-year period. The remaining UML (or overfunding) was 
amortized by Ilevel percentag~ of payroll contributions over 20 years. 

Additional pension plan information for the Department of Roads is as follows: 

'<SCI! Year Ended Sep!ember 30 

2011 2010 W09 2008 1007 2006 

Annual pension Cost (APe) S 1.861.3~9 $ 2,042.61.3 $ 2,OS5.174 $ 2.310,528 S 2.665.713 $ 2.CJQ3,247PerU!n. 01 JlJ'C Cootributed 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
Her. pens;on obIigaliOll $ S $ $ S $ 

V3Io;arlon Y..... Ended Oe«mber 31 

2010 1009 2006 2007 2006 2005 

Actu3tial-.alue 01 =eo $ 104.750.389 $ 106.170.601 S 106.161.605 $ 107.036,78'1 $ 100,2ll.610 $ 93,200.366 

Actu3tial a<;crued liabil"lIy (AAl) 
$ 112,519.931 $ 108,lS'J.057 $ IOS.082.506 $ ICH .826,658 $ 98.836.355 $ 97.873.919

(entf)' age) 
(Underlunded) ovetfunded AAl $ (7,769.542) $ (2,188.456) $ 1.179.097 $ 2.210,124 $ 1,386.255 $ (1.1>73.553) 
Funded ratio 93.09% 97.98% 10'-12% 102.11% IOI.~O% 95.12% 

Covered payroll $ 13.1+4,747 S 14.421,101 $ 14,449.299 S 14.621.336 $ 15,297.108 $ 15.788.396 

UAAl as a p<:'t"<:entage of covere:l 

J"l)'"oll 59.11% 1$.18% 0.00% 0.00% 0-00% 29.60% 
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Macomb County Department Of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 20 I [I 

Note 9 • Intended Use of Fund Balance 

Under Michigan law, all fund balance related to the Department of Roads is legally 
restricted for roads. However, the County has identified the following more specific 
purposes that it intends to utilize its resources on: 

Nonmajor 

Major Fund - Fund - Capital 

Road Fund Projects Fund 

Subsequent year's expenditures $ 8,763,523 $ 250,000 
Pending litigation 250,000 
Bridge projects 16,000,000 
Traffle signal upgrades 3,000,000 
Pavement management study 950,000 
Sign inventory 900,000 

County-wide pavement repair 13,500,000 
Road widening/congestion relief 9,051,359 
Guardrail replacement 500,000 
Administrative site paving and renovation 250,000 
Service center renovations 931,683 

Total $ 52.914,882 $ l,43/,683 
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Macomb County Department of IRoads 
(a department of Macomb CountyJ Michigan) 
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'Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Independent Auditor's Report 

Report on Internal Contliol Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based 011 an Al!..!dit of Financial Stat,ements Penormed in Accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the County Executive and Board of Commissioners 
Macomb County Department of Roads 

We have audited the finan.cial statements of the governmental activities, the Road Fund (the 
Department of Roads' onJy major fund), and the aggregate· remaining fund information of the 
Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of Macomb County. Michigan) (the 
"Department of Road") as of a~!Qr the year ended September 30, 20 I I, which collectively 
comprise the Department _..~' basic financial statements, and have issued our report 

thereon dated Februa~ 'fl:Pfi. ~e basic finan~j~~ st~tements are th~ ~esponsibility of th.e 
Department of Road . agement..~lilr responsIbility is to express opinions on these basiC 
financial stateme"\'t d on our aUdi@ 

We conducted our a@~ in accordan "ith auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America an sta. applicable to financial audits contained in Government 

Audit!ng .standards, issu • e~er Gen~raJo~". of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform ~ , Jo obtam reasonable assurance about whether the 

basic fi~anci~ statements ~e f~~.~Wlat~~~is.statement: An audit i~dl!Jdes examining, on .3 

test basiS, eVIdence supportlng tWamounts an. .lscloslires In the finanCl'al statements. An audit 
also incl'udes assessing the accounting prine .' '. used and significant estimates made by 
management. as well as evaluating ~~., ....tement p. resentation. We believe that 

our audit prOvides a reasonabl'e basis f~~j' '*"A 
Our audit was. conducted for the purpos~..trmin fl· »=~s~ the financial statements Ithat 
collectively comprise the Department of R~s' .fi~a .' ~tements. The accompanying 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is . ented .." purpose of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the basic financial state... . ~ information in this has lbeen 
sl!lbjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 4~f the basic financial statements and, in 
our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects i;':~iOA to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole. 

February I, 20' 2 
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Report on Iinternal Control Over FinanciallReportil'lg and on Compliance
 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of financial Statements
 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards
 

Independent Auditors Report 

To the County Executive and Board of Commissioners 
Macomb County Department of Roads 

We have audited the fin ents of the governmental activities, the Road Fund (the 
Department of Roads' • , and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Macomb County D ment of R ,(a department of Macomb County, Michigan) (the 
"Department of as of and for" year ended September 30, 20 I I, which collectively ... "."comprise the Dep nt of Roads'·· ic financial statements, and have issued OUT report

•
thereon dated Febru 20 12 have conducted our audit in accordance with auditing 
standards generally acce. • ' ni d States of America and the standards appticabfe to 
financial audits contained in Governme iting Standards, issued by the Comp~roller General of 

. -:-:- ;.••"'5..... 
the United States. • ,r ..:• .. . .~~. 
Internal Control Over Finanel Reportin 

In planning and performing our audit, ,the Depar'tment of Roads' intemaJ ·control 
over financial reporting as a basis f ~signl r di' • .ocedures for the purpose of 
expressing our opiniolils on the finandar; nts, Ij. o~e purpose of expressing an 
opirnion on the effectiveness of the entity's nal <;,...._ ver financial reporting. Accordingly, 
we do. not express an opinion on the effective' the ElltI:9.s""'internal contriol over financial 

reporting. v *, 
A defiden<y in intemol control exists when the des'(.;·operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course rforming their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a tl'mel,y basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonabl'e 
possibility that a material misstatement of the ent;ity's financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and cOIirected Oil a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify aU deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that might he deficiencies, significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses. We did not identify allY deficiencies in internal control over financial 
reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as deHfiled above'. 

. ~~er' 
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To the County Executive and Board of Connmissi.onerrs 
:Macomb County Department of Roads 

Compliance and Other Matite.rs 

As part of obtaining reasonable assuliance about whether the Department of Roads' financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regu1lations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisi.ons was not an objeaive of our 
audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are reqUired to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management. the County Executive 
and Board of Commission~~~~rswithin the entity, federal awarding agencies, and pass
through 'ellltities and is not-!Vd~ be and should not be used by anyone other than these 

specified parties; . 4:~' ~.#. ·
.~=-=:::. ~ ~
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Report on CompliaJilce with Requirements That Could Have a
 
Direct and M'ateriaJ Effect on Each Major Program and on
 

Internal Control over Compliance in Accordance With OMB Circular A-133
 

Independent Auditor's Report
 

To the County Executive and Board! of Commissioners 
Macomb County Departrrlent of Roads 

Compliance 

We have audited the compliance of the Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of 
Macomb County. Michigan) with the types of compliance reqUirements described in the U.S. 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-I 33 Compliance Supplement that could 
have a direct and materia'i effect 011 its major federal program for the year ended September 30, 
20 I I. The major federal program of the Department of Roads is identified in the summary of 
auditor's resu'lts section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
Compliance with tne requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to its 
major federal program is l:he responsibility of the Department of Roads' management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Department of Roads' compliance based on our 
audit. 

We conducted our audit ·Qf compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and 
OMS Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those 
standards and OMB Ciroular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assllrance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program 
occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Department of 
Roads' compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered neces'sary im the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on the Department of 
Roads' compliance with those requirements. 

In our opinion, the Macomb County Department of Roads complied, in all material respects, 
with the compliance requirements referred to above ~hat could have a direct and material effect 
on each of its major federal program for the year ended September 3D, 20 I I. However, the 
results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance with those requirements 
that are required to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which are 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 20 I I-I. 
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To the County Executive and Board of Commissioners 
Macomb County Department of Roads 

Internal Control Over Compliance 

The management of the Department of Roads is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over compliance with requirements of laws, ,regulatiolils, contracts, and 
grants applicable to federal programs. In IPlanning and Iperforming our audit, we considered the 
Department of Roads' internaf cOntrol over compliance with requirements that could have a 
direct and material effect on eli major federal program in order to determine our auditing 
procedures for the purpose of expreSSing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with OMS Circular A-133, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal ooliltrol over compliance. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entio/s internal control 
over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance ·exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normall course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance [reqUirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
comp'liance. such that there ,is a reasonable pOSSibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program wiU not be prev~nted, or detected and corrected, 
on a timely basis. 

Our cOlilsideration of internal 'control over compliance was (or the limjted purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this sectiol?l and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
controll ,over compliance that might be deficiencies. significant deficiencies, or material 
weaknesses. We did not identify any defidendes in internal control over compliance that we 
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. "",,oweveli, we identified a certain 
deficiency in internal control over compliance that we consider to be a significant deficiency as 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 201/-1. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, ali a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal progr.am that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, 
yet importalilt enougl7i to merit attention Iby those charged with governalilce 

The Department of Roads' response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit the Department of 
Roads' resp.onse and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the responses. 

This report is lintendedl solely for the linformatiolil and use of mamagement, the County Executive 
and Board of Commissioners, others witbin the entity, federal awarding agencies, and pass
through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 

[February I, 20 12 
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,Macomb County Department of Roads
 

SChedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year EncIecI september 3:0, 20 I I 

Federal 

Federal Agency/Pass-through Agem;y Program T,ltle CFDA Number Award Amount Expenditures 

u.s. Department of Transportation - Federal 

Highway Administration - Passed through 

the Michigan Department of Transportation 


Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 20.205 $ I,852,143 $ I,852,1 43
 

See Note to Expenditures of 6 
Federal Awards. 03/07/12 8:34 AM 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Note to SCfleduie of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Note I - Basis of P,resentatlon and Significant Accounting Policies 

The accompanying schedu'le of expenditures of federal awards (ttile "Schedule") inCludes 
the federal grant activity of the Macomb County Department of Roads under programs 
of the federal government for the year ended September 30, 20 II. Expenditures 
reported on the Schedule are reported on the same basis of accounting as the basic 
financial statements, although tne basis for determining when federal awards are 
expended is presented in accordance with tbe requirements of OMS Circular A-133, 
Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizatjons, In addition, 
expenditures reported on the Schedule are recogn~ed following the cost principles 
contained in OMB Cir~gr A-B?, wherein certain types of expenditures are not 
allowable or are li~_ •__ reimbursement. Therefore, some amounts presented in 
this schedule m "~r fr' ~- mounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the 
basic financi ments.· 

Because t4 .~edule presen~i'y a selected portion of the operations of the Macomb 
Co~~ty De e~t. of Ro.a •a~ is not intended to and does not present the financial 
pOSltiJOn, chalJ~~~~_~r cash flows of the Macomb County Departme-nt of 
Roads. Pass-thrC:~ld~~_ng numbers are presented where available. 

#~., 
.~.. 

- --<.~ 

~~~._~~ -.. 
'e'd{Ifr~
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

SChedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Endedi september 30,2011 

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of audilor's report issued: Unqualified 

Intemal control over financial reporting: 

•	 Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No 

•	 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are 
not considered to be mater' eaknesses? Yes x None reported 

Noncompliance material	 n~ir~ 
~~= 

statements noted~:or .:;:;~-. Yes x No 
•• y	 • 

Fede'ral Awards~' IrrJ	 
-- 

'._-:-:-	 li"' 

Intemal control ove~~rprogr~ . • 

•	 Materialweakness(~_. ~ Yes X No .... 
•	 Significant deficiency(ies) iden' . .~. 

not considered to be mate ", eakness~ X Yes None reported~ 
Type of auditor's report issued o'n compliance~or programs: Unqualified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are r~ A 
to, be reported in accordance with '- ~ . '.--:-. _ .......
 
Section 5 10(a) of Circular A-133? %~ Yes, . No 

-'7 ~ Identification of major programs:	 . .' ~~, 

.~ .";"
 

CFDA Numbers Name of ·ral Pr~' ram or Cluster
 

20.205	 U.S. Department of sportation - Federal Highway 
Administration - Passed through Michigan Department of 
Transportation ~ Highway Pllanning and COliYstruction Cluster 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish betWeen type A and type B programs: $300,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?	 X Yes No 
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IMacomb County Department of Roads
 

SChedule Of Flndlnp and Questioned' Costs 
Year Ended september 30, 20 I I 

Section II • FinancJaI Statement Audit Findings 

None 

Section III - IFederal P,rogram Audit Findings 

Reference
 
Number
 

and Constfl!Jction Cluster 
2011-1 

an Department of Transportation 

eficiency and] Material Noncompliance 

Finding 

Pass-~.,... ...
.. - Signific " 
•

with lawS- egula···'~I(" 

'Criteria - '~e!l~erequirements for suspension and 
debarment are CO~tai~~ ;,., " MB gUidance in 2 CFR Part 180. 
OMB guidance r .• "'~that fo~- ,ocurement contracts an,d goods 
and services that a expected ~ual or exceed $25,000, the 
grantee must verify that d~ .arty~"'" awarded a procurement 
contract is not suspend ··;Pr otherwise excluded by .--.' .. 
checking the list of exclud arti ·i . tion from theI 

- "'II... lit. • "":_ _... ." ._ 
contractor or seller, or inc a cI r cdMdition to the 
covered transaction with that ei*y. .x:.... 

1:.:..~ ~:-:.=9"' 
Condition ~ The Department of R~'did nl~lt!I~. that all parties... 
being awarded procurements were not. dect: debarred. Of 
otherwise excluded when the De ent of Roads hired 
contractors to provide' materials greater $25,000 to be used 
for construction projec;;tS. 

Questioned Costs - None - Upon review of the excluded parties 
listing subsequent to year end, it was determined that none of the 
parties that were awarded procurements were excluded parties. 

Context - During the audit, we selected a sample of three vendors 
that were disbursed amoulilts in exces.s of $25,000 during the year 
by the Department of Roads for goods or services used for the 
Tramc Operations Center. It was Inoted that verification was not 
made that the vendor is not suspended or debarred for the three 
vendors tested., 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

SChedule of Findings and Questionecl Costs 
Year Ended september 110,2011 

Section III - Federal Program Audit Findings (Continued) 

Reference
 
Number Finding
 

Cause .and Effect - The cause of the finding was due to internal 
control procedures over suspension and debarment requirements 
not operating effectively. as required compliance activities were not 
addressed in all instances. The effect of the finding is that failure to 
monitor suspensio ~d debarment could cause ftlnds to be... 
disbursed to s who are not eligible to have goods 
purchased ~. eral' ies. 

Reco~.. ation - Inte , control procedures should Ibe created 
and ..'. . ced to ensu at the appropriate suspension and 
deb~ .. 'verifications' performed for all vendors prOViding 
materials 6 • ess of $25.000. 

•~~••:~~ ...61..._ 
Views of Responsible·.::otficials and Planned Corrective 
Actions - proce~,~~anded to verify that the suppliers 
and contractors ': by the ~..-partment of Roads to prOVide 
materials or services in excess ~:OOO are not suspended or 
debarred by the federal go~e.nt, =::s 

~"i#'........ .•~ :;-;- - ..~
"~",, ~.§ •.r· 

~. ..:',,»" - .•::: .......'"?'''
 
-~...... ,:ffl/ .y

W....~-&.-' M 
-.#

,.

"*:, 
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Macomb Co~ Department of Roads
 

Summary SChedule of Prior Aadlt Findings 
Year Ended september 30, 20 I [I 

Prior'Year 
Finding 

Number Federal Program Original Finding Descriptiolil Status Planned Corrective Action 

201D-I' Highway Planning and The Oepanment of Roads did In progress In future years, procedures 
Construction oot verify that all parties will be expanded to verify 
Cluster 20.205 being awarded that the suppliers and 

procurements were not contractors hired by the 
suspended,debarred.or Department of Roads to 
otherwise excluded when provide materials or 
the Department of Roads services in excess of 

ed contractors to provide $25.000 are not suspended , .11 
.~'. rials greater thao or debarred by the federal 

.11«-:;-- $ 0 to be used! for government. .. . con, ,tlon projects, 
• -J'~c ~ ..V"'~· :.J 
~~, of, 

~-~.. 

II
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Plante & Moran, PLLC 
Suile 30Cwp_n_te_ 

19176 Hall Rocd 

ClirlOn TOVinship, MI 48038 

Tel 556 416 4900 moran 
Fax, 566416.4901 

plantemo,an,com 

March 7, 2012 

~w1\"t C<V'M~-\.U-
To the County Executive and Macomb 

County Board of Commissioners ~-\~-\L 
Macomb County Administrative Building 
1 S. Main Street, 8th Floor ~\ '-E:" ~~'-.,
Mount Clemens, MI48043 

Dear County Executive Hackel and Members of the Board of Commissioners: 

We have audited the finandal statements of Macomb County Department of Roads (the 
"Department of Roads") as of and for the year ended September 30, 20 II and have issued our 
report thereon dated March 7, 20 f 2. Professional standards require that we prOVide you with 
the folloWing information related to our audit: 

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 

As stated in our engagement letter dated November II, 20 II, our responsibility, as described 
by professional standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements 
prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial 
statements does not relieve you or management of your responsibilities. Our responsibility is to 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. 

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Macomb County Department of 
Roads. Such considerations were solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and 
not to provide any assurance conceming such intemal control. 

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting 
process. However, we are not required to design procedures specifically to identify such 
matters. 

Our audit of the Department of Roads' financial statements has also been conducted in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. Under Government Auditing Standards, we have made some assessments of the 
Department of Roads' compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations. contracts, and 
grant agreements. While those assessments are not sufficient to identify all noncompliance with 
applicable laws, regulations, and contract provisions, we are required to communicate all 
noncompliance conditions that come to our attention. We have communicated those conditions 
in a separate letter dated December 15,20 II regarding our consideration of the Department of 
Roads' intemal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements. 

Praxity';
MfNBER •• 

GLOBAl .lll~HCE "f 
I~O(HNOl~T FIN~S 



To the County Executive and Macomb March 7, 2012 
County Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Administrative BUilding 

We are also obligated to communicate certain matters related to our audit to those responsible 
for the governance of the Department of Roads, including certain instances of error or fraud and 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. In certain situations, 
Government Auditing Standards require disclosure of illegal acts to applicable government 
agencies. If such illegal acts were detected during our audit, we would be required to make 
disclosures regarding these acts to applicable government agencies. No such disclosures were 
required. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to 
you in our meeting about planning matters on November 22, 20 I I with Kathy Vosburg and 
Roland Fraschetti and the follow-up letter to the remaining members of the Board of 
Commissioners and the audit committee. 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In 
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the 
appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies 
used by the Department of Roads are described in Note I to the financial statements. 

No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not 
changed during 20 II other than the adoption of Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement Number 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund-type Deftnitions. 

We noted no transactions entered into by the Department of Roads during the year for which 
there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

There are no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a 
different period than when the transaction occurred. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. 

The net other postemployment benefit obligation is a significant and sensitive accounting 
estimate to the Department of Roads. Management's estimate of the net other 
postemployment benefit obligation is based on certain assumptions pertaining to interest rates, 
inflation rates, employee compensation, and demographics. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop this estimate in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the 

financial statements taken as a whole. plante 
2 moran



To the County Executive and Macomb March 7, 2012 
County Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Administrative Building 

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
dUring the audit, other than those that are trMa!' and communicate them to the appropriate 
level of management. The attached schedule summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the 
financial statements. Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both 
individually and in the ~regate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. In addition, none 
of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management 
were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. We did not propose any other corrections to the financial statements during the course 
of our auditing procedures. 

Disagreements with Management 

For the purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as 
a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, 
that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor's report. 

We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated March 7, 2012. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the government's financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditor's opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts. 

To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

plante
3 moran 



To the County Executive and Macomb March 7, 2012 
County Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Administrative Building 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

In the normal course of our professional association with the Department of Roads, we generally 
discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, business conditions affecting the Department of Roads, and business plans and 
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed 
resulted in a condition of our retention as the Department of Roads' auditors. 

In addition to the comments and recommendations in this letter, our observations and 
comments regarding the Department of Roads' intemal controls, including any significant 
deficiencies or material weaknesses that we identified, have been reported to you in the report 
on intemal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters based on an 
audit of financial statements performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. This 
report is included in the supplemental schedule of federal awards and we recommend that the 
matters we have noted there receive your careful consideration. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Department of Roads' staff for the 
cooperation and courtesy extended to us during our audit. Their assistance and professionalism 
are invaluable. 

This report is intended solely for the use of the County Executive, the Board of County 
Commissioners, and management of the Macomb County Department of Roads and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

We welcome any questions you may have regarding the following communications and we 
would be willing to discuss any of these or other questions that you might have at your 
convenience. 

Very truly yours, 

Plante & Moran, PLLC 

David W. Herrington 

Lisa C. Manetta 

plante 
4 moran 
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To the County Executive and Macomb March 7, 2012 
County Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Administrative BUilding 

alent: Macomb County Department of Roads 
Opillion Unit: Governmental Activities I Road Fund 
Y/E: 9/30/2011 

SUMMARY OF UNRECORDED POSSIBLE ADJUSTMENTS 

The pretax effect of_"""""'" and d=~calio~ em"., id..-.;fie<I woclo be '0 ',,,,,,,,,,,,. (d~) the ~ 

.""'...... I~ the ~ t'Iot'odat ""''''''''''' categor1"" Iden;ifiod below: 

Ctrr.", Loo-g-rerm G.r-~ Lorg-te-m p"""" 
Rtrl.# Des:: n peion of Misstate.men: "'=<> A>set. LlabUiries U.boliti"" Eqtity R............ Ir«>me~ 

IKNOWN MISSTATEMENT'S: 

No~ 

IESnMATE ADI USTMENTS: 

No~ 

IIMPLIED ADJUSTMENT'S: 

To """"l'01"e <esti'l! diff«-= I"Oted be<w""" 
"'oIg~<ed ave-oge .........oon ofl~ryon;llh. ,""
In. 6n.t-oUl: method S 66,5$7 S (66.58 7) $ 66, Sa7$---- $--"- $--"- $--"- $--"

Total S S S $ S (66,581) ~ ~ L...:... 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

FOR YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2011
 

~v..s\~~M.u.... 
~-\~-\'

c:- \ \-E. ~~ r "\. 
- (jtJI 



$
2010 2011 

Transfers & Other Sources $3.0 $0.5 
-".- ... 

$1.9 I $1.7• Sundry and Inspections ._....._
-_.~~......_.

• State Maintenance and $8.3 I $7.2
Nonmaintenance
 

State Revenue
 $1.4$1.4 

Local Contributions $2.6 $2.7 
$25.8 $19.2• Federal Aid 

MTF Funds $35.6 $35.2 

Millions of Dollars $90 I 

$80 
I 

$70 

$60 
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$30 

$20 

$10 

$78.6 
$67.9! 2 





Macomb County Department of Roads 
~la~T~Road Fund - Balance Sheet - Assets '1_·'0.·IU

As of September 30 



Macomb County Department of Roads 
Qlan.....,.Road Fund - Balance Sheet - Liabilities and Equity ~ 

As of September 30 
- DIU 

Millions of Dollars 

$70 
$63.5 

$61.5 
$60
 

$50
 

$40
 

$30
 

$20
 

$10
 

$ I 2010 2011 

• Liabilities $9.9 58.6 
• Equity $53.6 $52.9 



Macomb County Department of Roads .. 
Road Fund - Six-Year Comparison - Fund Balance ••••
 
As of September 30 

Millions of Dollars 

$60 

$53.6 $52.9 
$49.9 

$50 

$40 

$30 

$20 

$10 

$n +-1

2006 2007 2008: 2009 2011 

Restriicted 

2010
 



T:.hank you for the opportunity
 
fo' serve· as auditors fer the


Ma!com'b <C,ounty Dep'artment of 'Road-s
 



Dave Herrington 
.-;., 

586.416.4924 
Daviq.. Herrtngton@ptantemorati. co,m 

Lisa Manetta 

5.8'6.41.6.4937 
Li"sa.Manetta@plantemioran.cQ,m 

mailto:Herrtngton@ptantemorati.co,m
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Su~e 3CO~_nt_e_ 

19176 Hall Road 

ChnlOll TO\':ns'oip. MI 48038 

Teo, 586,~ 16,49JOmoran 
Fax: 586.~16.~901 

pl;lntemor"n.com 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the Road 
Fund (the Department of Roads' only major fund), and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of Macomb County, Michigan) (the 
"Department of Roads") as of and for the year ended September 30. 20 I I, which collectively 
comprise the Department of Roads' basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Department of Roads' management. Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

As discussed in Note I, the financial statements of the Department of Roads are intended to 
present the financial pOSition, the changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows 
of only that portion of Macomb County that is attributable to the transactions of the 
Department of Roads. They do not purport to and do not present fairly the financial position of 
Macomb County, Michigan as of September 30, 20 II, the changes in its financial position, and 
cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States 'Of America. 

In our opirnion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all material respects, 
the financial position of the governmental activities, the Road Fund (the Department of Roads' 
only major fund), and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Macomb County 
Department of Roads as of September 30, 20 I I, the respective changes in financial position and 
cash flows, and the respective budgetary comparison for the Road Fund for the year then ended, 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 

". 

Praxlty';
MEMBER •• 

~~gmNlJW,~~~ 



To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

The management's discussion and analysis is not a required part of the basic financial statements 
but is supplemental information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of 
management, regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplemental 
information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
March 7, 2012 on our consideration of the Department of Roads' internal control over financial 
reporting on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to prOVide an opinion on intemaJ control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards and should be read with this report in considering the results of our audit. 

March 7, 2012 

pJante
moran
 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

As management of the Macomb County Department of Roads (the "Department of Roads"), we 
offer the readers of the Department of Roads' financial statements ti"lis narrative overview and 
analysis of the financial activities of the Department of Roads for the fiscal year ended 
September 30,20 II. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This dis.clilssion and analysis is. intended to provide a basis of understanding of the Department of 
Roads' basic financial statements. These statements are comprised of three components: 
(I) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to the 
finandal statements. The first two components are presented together on the governmental 
funds balance sheet/statement of net assets and the statement of revenue, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances/statement of activities. 

Financial Analysis 

Net assets enable governmental agencies to determine their overall fi'scal position. The Macomb 
County Department of Roads' net assets increased by 0.5 percent from a year ago, increasing 
from $797.3 miJlion to $801.0 million. This increase was. due primarily to aJ1 increase in the 
Department of Roads' capital assets. The Department of Roads completed a large amount of 
construction work in fiscal year 2Q I I. Many were new road projects and some were carried 
over from prior years. In addition, the Department of Roads. completed many signal 
optimi'lation and modernization projects. The value of this infrastructure is induded in the 
statement of net assets. III a condensed format, the table below shows the comparison of net 
assets (in millions of dollars) as of September 30. 20 II to tJhe prior year. 

Condensed Statement of Net Assets 

September 30, September 30, 

201 'I 2010 

Assets 
Current assets $ 72.7 $ 74.9 

Capital and other noncurrent assets 739.4 734.1 

Tota! assets 812.1 809.0 

Uabilities 
Current liabilities 8.6 9.8 

Long-term liabilities outstanding 2.5 1.9 

11.1 11.7 

Net Assets
 
Invested in capital assets 735.9 732.5
 

Totalliabilities 

65.1 64.8Restri<:ted for roads 

$ 801.0 $ 797.3Total net assets 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Management's IDi~ussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Net invested in capital assets increased from $732.5 million in fiscal year 20 I0 to $735.9 million 
in fiscal year 20 I I. This increase was a result of new infrastructure being added. Restricted net 

assets other than those invested in capital assets, which finance the day-to-day operations of 
road activity and the future growth of Macomb County for infrastructure. were $65. I million at 

September 30, 20 II. This amount increased approximately 0.5 percent from last year's 
restricted net assets of $64.8 million. 

The following table shows the changes in net assets (in millions of dollars) as of September 30, 
20 I I and the prior year: 

Condensed Statement of Activitjes 

Year Ended September 30 

2011 2010 

Revenue 
State aid $ 36.7 $ 37.0 
Federal sources 19.2 25.6 
iLocaI and other sources 11.6 14.5 

Land and roads released from developers 8.1 13.9 

Tota! revenue 75.6 91.0 

Expenses 

Maintenance and equipment 17.7 13.5 
Administrative 15.8 16.8 

Depreciation 38.4 37.2 

Tota! expenses 71.9 67.5 

Increase in Net Assets $ 3.7 $ 23.5 

Statement of Activities 

The Department of Roads' total revenue decreased I 7 percent from the prior year. The 
revenue from federal and local sources decreased 25 percent due to the funds received on road 
construction projects. Several large construction projects were carried forward to next fiscal 

year, and the revenue from those projects will be recorded when received. In addition. a large 

decrease was experienced in the land and roads being released from developers. Expenses 
increased' approximately $4.4 million over last year. The increase was seen primarily in the 

maintenance and equipment line. This was due to the harsh winter that was experienced and 

the expenses incurred to maintain the roads. Overall, net assets increased $3.6 million from the 

prior year. 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Road Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Prior to beginning each new fiscal year, the Macomb County Department of Roads' budget is 
prepared based upon certain assumptions and facts available at that time. Throughout the year, 
the Road Department amends the budget to reflect changes in these original assumptions, facts, 
and/or economic conditions that were unknown at the time the original budget was adopted. 
These amendments are approved by the County Board. The Department of Roads amended its 
20 I I budget on several occasions during the year to reflect changes in equipment expense, 
maintenance expense, and status changes in budgeted construction projects. Rnal expenditures 
were $15.8 million lower than the original budget due primarily to changes in construction 
projects and reductions in staffing. The Macomb County Department of Roads has made great 
efforts to reduce staffing and benefit costs through attrition. Since fiscal year 2004, the 
Department of Roads has reduced the work force from 311 employees to the current level of 
230 employees, resulting in a 26 percent decrease in staffing levels. The actual revenue for fiscal 
year 201 I was also lower than the budgeted amount. With several construction projects being 
rolled over to fiscaJ year 2012, the revenue sharing on these projects will also be recognized in 
2012. The Department of Roads secured construction contracts of approximately $23.6 million, 
and actual expenditures on these contracts were less than what was budgeted. 

Capital Assets 

The Department of Roads had $735.9 million in net capital assets at the end of the fiscal year. 
This amount represents a net increase of $3.4 million from the previous year. The Department 
of Roads added $41.8 million to its investment in capital assets during the current year, including 
approximately $35.4 million of infrastructure additions. The recorded amount of the 
infrastructure assets net of depreciation contained in this report is $514.6 million and 
$515.5 million for fiscal years 20 I 1 and 20 I 0, respectively. The infrastructure will continue to 
be the largest asset class. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget 

Reductions in revenue sharing will directly affect the local units of government. This will, in turn, 
affect the amount of funds the local units will have available to participate in road projects. 
Although the Macomb County Department of Roads experienced consistent funding in Michigan 
Transportation Funds (MTF) as compared to fiscal year 20 t0, MTF revenue is expected to 
decrease slightly in fiscal year 2012. MTF dollars are the main source of income to cover 
operating expenses of the Department of Roads, including all road maintenance expenses and 
the Department of Roads' share of construction expense. Without adequate increases in MTF 
revenue and revenue sharing, the Macomb County Department of Roads has diminishing 
resources for road improvements and maintenance activities. This decrease will directly impact 
the number of road projects that can be undertaken, as well as the level of maintenance work 
the Macomb County Department of Roads can provide. The Department of Roads continues to 
face challenging financial times. Revenue and expenditures will be monitored throughout the 
year to assure fiscal responsibility. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

Contacting the Department of Roads' Management 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Department of Roads' 
finances and to show accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be 
addressed to the Macomb County Department of Roads, Michelle M. Mykytiak. Finance 
Director. For more specific information regarding construction projects, contact Robert 
Hoepfner, Director of Roads. 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Assets 

Cash and investments (Note 4) 
Receivables: 

State of Michigan 
Construction accounts receivable 
Accrued interest receivable 
Other 
Current portion of note receivable 

InventOf)' 
Surplus propen:ies 
Prepaid costs and other 
Note recelvable 
Net OPEB asset (Note 7) 
Capital assets (Note 5): 

Assets not being depreciated 
Assets being depreciated - Net 

Tot3l assets 

Liabilities and Fund Balances 

Liabilities 
Liabilities due within one year. 

Accounts payable 
Advances 
Deposits 
Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 
Accrued workers' compensation (Note 6) 
Accrued liabilities and other 
Current portion of note payable 

Uabilities due in greater than one year: 
Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 
Accrued workers' compensation liabilities (Note 6) 
Notes payable 
Accrued sick and vacation 

TotaIliabHities 

Fund Balances - Restricted for roads 

Totalliabilities and fund balances 

Net Assets 
Invested in capital assets 

Restricted for roads 

Tota! net assets 

Major Fund-

Road 

$ 47.133,336 

8,005,710 
56,739 
55,818 

413,183 

4,554,688 
232,403 

1,018,128 

$ 61,470,005 

$ 2,885,213 
4,213,976 

636,660 

31,985 
787,289 

8,555,123 

52,914,882 

$ 61,470,005 
7 

Nonmajor Fund 

Capital 

Projects 

$ \,431.683 

$ 1,431,683 

$ 

1,431,683 

$ 1,431,683 

Total 

Governmental 

Funds 

$ 48,565,019 

8.005.710 
56,739 
55,818 

413,183 

4.554,688 
232,403 

1.018,128 

$ 62,901.688 

$ 2,885,213 
4,213,976 

636,660 

31,985 
787,289 

8,555,123 

54,346,565 

$ 62,901,688 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of this Statement. 
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Govemmental Funds Balance SheetjStatement of N'et Assets 

Adjustments 

(NOte 2) 

$ 9,620,536 $ 

(2],749 

1,091,595 
2,431,003 

198,637,361 
537,267,921 

749,172,165 

25.521 

(92.356) 
/23,749 

24,067 
94,775 

1,091,595 
1,243,8&4 

2,511,215 

(54,346.565) 

(51,835,350) 

735,905,182 
65,102,133 

$ 801,007,515 $ 

September 30, 2011, 

Statement of 

Net ksets 

58,185,555 

8,005,710
 
56,7]9
 
55,818
 

413,18]
 
123,749
 

4,554,688
 
132,403
 

1,018,128
 
1.091,595
 
2.431,003
 

198,637,361
 
5]7,267,921
 

812.073,853 

2,885,213
 
4,11],976
 

636,660
 
25,521
 
31,985 

694,933
 
123,749
 

24,067 
94,775
 

1,091.595
 
1,243,864
 

11,066,338 

11,066,338 

735,905,282
 
65,102,233
 

80 I ,007,515 
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,Macomb County Department of IRoads
 

Nonm",or FtJnd 

Tot3l 

Maj:>rFllIld 

Road 

Capital 

Projects 

GO"'ertlm"".... 

Funds 

ReYeflue 

Uc:en ,es, permit<. and lees 
Fedo!tdl >id [", construetJon 

Federal grant money 
Stale .......EnUe; 

Michigan Tnnsporution Fund 

Build Michi8an Fund 
State Criticaf Bridge 

CooOibulio<ts from local units: 
an... 
Townships and vill>gei! 

County 

Charges [Qr services: 
Stare tnJnkline maintenanOl 
Sule IlOIlIYIOintenance 

$ J25,SOi 
19,OO7.H7 

203.815 

3'1,758.530 
1.125,254 

179.112 

566,187 
1,307.802 

700,393 

7.037.781 
159.782 

$ S 325,504 
19,007,747 

203,81S 

34,758,530 
1,425,254 

479,112 

566,187 
1.307,802 

780.393 

7.037,784 
1$9,782 

om..... reveIW '" 

ali.... txl'MlSh;ps. and other 
mspea.icns 

Land and roads rUeased from d""elopen 
Ope-ating ~ncome from int~ service fu·nd 

Interest 

1,296.651 

3.n6 

192,448 5,193 

1,296,65'1 

3,776 

197,641 

Sale oil:nd. prcpeny. ~• ..nd od>er 71,931 71.931 

Tot<lI r"'enu e 67,616,719 5,193 67,611.912 

Expen<fttu ~slE>cpenses . CufT€l1t 

Primary roads 

Local roads 
Primary bridges 
locall>ridges 
Non-road ~ojeeu 

Stlte rnainten:>n<:e 
State nonmaintetWlce 
Equipment rental credits • Net of equipment expe1l$e. 

exclu<l;ng fringe 

Engif'leefing 
~mtnistrative 

In,peclions and other 

Distributive fringe bEnefits 
Other distributive expense 
Capital outlay • Nee of depreciation aedils 

Deprec:iaiion expense 

26,883,623 

8.231,832 
4.145,825 

137,701 
2.320,652 
4.610,~ 

101,.410 

(648,819) 

1./OEl.335 
545,832 
928.113 

15,595,833 
4.660,820 
(234,811 1 

26,883.023 
8,23I,6n 
4,245,825 

237.701 
2,)20.652 

(610,«0 
101,470 

(6'l8.819) 
1.108.335 

515.832 
928.11) 

15,595.833 
4.660,820 
(284.811) 

Tot3l expenditures/expenses 68.536,816 68,536,846 

El<.c:ess of "*_110 (Under) <>ter Expenditllres! 
Olange In Net Asse1:S (920.127) 5,~93 (91<\.93'1) 

OtMr Financing Sour'C'eS (l4os) . Tl"3I\5fen 279,383 (179,383) 

Excess of Re...." ..a :ond Other F lnandng Sources (Uses) 

(Under) Over ExpenditlJres/Change i" Net Assets {MO]44} (274,190) (914,934) 

fllnd Bab.nceslHet Assets • October I, 10I0 53,555,616 1,705,673 55,261,199 

Fund Balanc=fNet Assets· September 30. 2011 $ 52,914,882 $ I,4JJ ,683 $ S4,J46,56S 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 9 
Integral Part of this Statement. 



Statement of Revenue, Expenditurest and Changes in 
Fund BalanceS/Statement of Activities 

Year Ended september 30, 20 I I 

$ 

Ad'iustmenu 

(Note 2) 

S,S82 

(12.H3) 

(5.868) 

8.005.984 
(199.863) 

H.849 

(196) 

7.ffl5,915 

(19,059.987) 
(2..519.934) 
(4,245,815) 

(231,lOI) 

(3.165.191) 
(l.~.111) 

(l.ll!l3.570) 
38,379.363 

3.312.741 

"..s53,1~ 

4.553.1~ 

742,107.766 

746,.660,950 

5talemencof 

AdMlies 

$ 325,5(}1 
19,OO7,H7 

203,815 

3VS8,S30 
1,~25,2.5-i 

479.112 

571.769 
1.307,002 

7llO.393 

7.037.7~ 

IH.539 

1.2.90,786 
3,776 

8.095,981 
{I 99,88J) 
232.~90 

19"U5 

75.517,837 

7.813.636 
5.681,898 

2,320.652 
i.610.HO 

IOIMO 

(618,819) 
1,108.335 

545,832 
928,113 

12.430,639 
776,109 

(2.168.381) 
38,379.363 

71 ,879.5if1 

3,638,250 

3,638,250 

797,369,265 

.:.,$__----'80~1,1)07:..:..:..<';;..;51..0.5 
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Macomb County Department of IRoads
 

IRoad Fund 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule 
Year Ended September 30,2011, 

Original Amended 

Budget Budget Actual 

Revenue 

Ucenses, permItS, and fees $ 631,500 $ 426,500 $ 325,504 
Federal aid fo r COns( l'\Jct ion 21,330,291 17,630,291 19,007,747 
Federal gram money 4,015,300 1.000,000 203,815 
State revenue: 

Michigan Transportalioo Fund 32,610,000 34,110.000 34,758,530 
Build Michigan Fund 1,296,000 1,296,000 1.425,254 
St3te CritkaJ Bridge 4.370.000 1.000.000 479,112 

Co rmibutioos from Io<:aI units: 

Cities 981,230 981,230 566,187 
TownshIps 3,329,984 1,500,000 1,307,802 
County 483,650 700,000 780,393 

Charges for services; 

State tnlnkline maJnrenance 5,759,461 5,759,461 7.037,784 
StOlte nonmaintenance 700,000 700,000 159,782 

Other revenue: 
Cities. township$, and other 1,005,000 1,033,731 1.296.654 
Inspectioos 165,550 160,372 3.776 
Interest 1n,238 200,000 192.448 

Sale of land, property, rental. and other 82,500 152,443 71,931 

Total revenue 76,937,704 66,650,028 67.616,719 

Expenditures - Current 
Pnnwyroads 34,373,345 25,146,506 26,003.623 
Local roads 9,071,063 8,571,063 8,231,832 
Primary bridge5 6,999,161 5,449,161 4.245.825 
local bridges 65,000 232,677 237,701 

Local drain 100,000 100,000 

PrimV)' drain 100,000 100,000 

Nonroad projectS 4,401.900 2,401,900 2,320,652 

State maintenance 3,642.377 3,642,377 4,6 I0,4.ol0 

State nonmaintenance 601,000 601,000 101,470 
Equipment rental credits - Net: of equipment e>:pense, exduding fringe (1,095.266) (191,822) (648.819) 
Engineering 1.055,000 1.255,000 1.108,335 

Admillistrative 1,027,460 1,027,460 $45,832 

Inspections and other 1,040.760 1,003,260 928.113 
Distribulive fringe berlefits 18,459,500 16,709,500 15.595,833 

Other d isrribut ive e>:pense 5,575,365 5,075,365 4,660,820 

Capital outlay - Net of depreciation credits (1.015,0461 (1,015,046) (184.811) 

Tota! e>:penditUre5 84,401,619 70,108,401 68,536,846 

Excess of Expenditures Over Revenue (7,463,915) (3,458,373) (920,117) 

Other Flnar'ldng Sources· Trarcsfers 275.000 279.383 

£Xcess of expenditures Over Revenue and Other financing Sources (7.463,915) (3,183,373) (640,744) 

Fund Bal3l'1ce - Oaober 1,2010 53,555,626 53,555,626 53,555,626 

Fund Balance - September 3D, 20 II $ 46,091,711 $ 50,372,253 $ 52,914,882 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an II 
Integral Part of this Statement. 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Proprietary Fund • Internal Service F'und 
General Liability Self-insurance Fund 

Statement of Net Assets 
September 3,0, 20 I I 

Assets - Current - Cash and investments (Note 4) $ 9,620.,536 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities - Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 25,521
 
Noncurrent liabilities - Provision for uninsured losses (Note 6) 24,067
 

Totalliabilities 49,588 

Net Assets - Restricted for roads $ 9,570,948 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of this Statement. 12 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Proprietary Fund - Intemal 5e'rvice Fund 
General Liability Self~insuranceFund 

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and ~bange5 in Net Assets 
Year Ended September 30,2011 

Operating Expenses 
Settlements, premiums, and other $ 191,038 

Change in allowance for claims incurred but not reported 8,845 

Operating Loss (199,883) 

Nonoperating Revenue -Interest income 34,849 

Decrease in Net Assets (165,034) 

Net Assets - Beginning of year 9,735,982 

Net Assets - End of year $ 9,570.948 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of this Statement. 13 



Macomb Cou'nty Department of Roads
 

Proprietary Fund - (nte.mal Service F.und 
General Liab.ility Self-insurance Fund 

Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended September 30, 10 I I 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities ~ Claims, settlements. 

premiums, and other items paid $ (191,038) 

Cash Flows from tnvesting Activities 
Interest received on investments 34,849 

Net proceeds and purchases of investment securities 156,189 

Net cash provided by investing activities 191,038 

Net Change in Cash and Cash Eqllivalents 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash from OperatiAg 
Acti·virties 

Operating loss $ (199,883) 

Adj,ustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash from operating 

activities - Chamge in provision for uninsured losses and liabilities 8,845 

Net cash used in operating actiViities $ (191,038) 

Reconciliation to Balance Sheet 
Cash and investments recorded on balance sheet/statemer1t of net assets $ 9,620,536 

Less fixed~term investments (9,620,536) 

Total $ 

Noncash Investing, Capita", and Financing Activities - During the year ended 
September 30, 20 I, I , tnere were no noncash investing. capital. or financing activities. 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an 
Integral Part of this Statement. 14 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 10 I I 

Note I - Significant Accounting Policies 

The Macomb County Department of Roads (the "Department of Roads") is a 
department of Macomb County, Michigan responsible for the maintenance and 
construction of the road system in Macomb County. The Department of Roads' 
financial statements will be included in the basic financial statements of the County of 
Macomb. Michigan. Transactions between the Department of Roads and the 
County of Macomb, Michigan primarily relate to the cost sharing of construction 
projects that were administered by the Department of Roads, which were not 
significant during the year. 

The accounting policies of the Department of Roads conform to accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable 
to governmental units. The following is a summary of the significant accounting 
policies~ 

Reporting Entity 

The Department of Roads administered by the County Executive of Macomb 
County. As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, these financial statements present the Macomb County 
Department of Roads. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America, there are no component units included in these 
financial statements. 

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The govemment-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the activities of the Department 
of Roads. For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from 
these statements. The Department of Roads consists solely of governmental-type 
activities; no business-type activities exist. 

The fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds and are included 
in the government-wide financial statements. Major and nonmajor individual 
governmental funds are reported as separate columns. Separate financial statements 
are provided for the proprietary fund. 

15
 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statemen1:s 
September 30, 20 I I 

Note I - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Measurement Focus. Basis of Accounting. and F,inancial Statement 
Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. as are the 
proprietary fund financial statements. Revenue is recorded when earned and 
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of rel'ated 
cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenue is recognized as soon as it is both measurable and available. Revenue is 
considered to be available if it is collected within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Department 
of Roads considers revenue to be available if it is collected within 60 days of the end 
of the current fiscal period. Amounts collected beyond this time period are 
recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue related to construction projects and 
inspection work orders is recognized when the related costs are incurred, subject to 
the availability criterion. Billings on the contracts indude a provision for fringe 
benefits and overhead. No profit is recognized on these contracts. Interest 
associated with the current fiscal period is considered susceptible to accrual and has 
been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period. Other revenue is recorded 
when received. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. Expenditures ,for construction and work orders are recognized as the 
work progresses. Amounts billed to other governmentaJ units for participation in 
construction or for work orders include equipment usage charges based on 
predetermined rates. These rates are designed to cover direct equipment operating 
costs, which include depreciation recorded within the government-wide statements. 
However, expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, 
accounted for within the Road Fund. are recorded only when payment is due. 

The Road Fund is the Department of Roads' only major governmental fund and is 
used to account for the proceeds of earmarked revenue or financing activities 
requiring separate accounting because of legal or regulatory provisions. 

116 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2011 

Note I - Significant Accounting Policies (COntinued) 

Additionally, the Department of Roads r·eports the following fund type: 

Internal Service Fund - The Internal Service Fund is a proprietary fund type and 
accounts fOIi risk management services provided to the Road Fund on a cost
reimbursement basis. 

Propr,ietary funds distinguish operati'ng revenue and operating expenses from 
nonoperating items. Operating revenue and expenses generally result from 
prOViding services in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing 
operations. All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenue and expenses. 

Assets, Liabilities, and Net Assets or Equity 

Cash Equivalents - For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the 
Department of Roads does not include fixed-term investments (such as certificates 
of deposit) as cash eqUivalents. Only cash items (cash on hand, checking accounts, 
and savings accounts) are included. 

Investments - Fixed-term investments are reported at fair value, which 
approximates cost due to maturity dates. 

Inventory and Prepaid Costs - Inventory consists principally of road saJt, signs, 
and equipment maintenance materials and is valued at the lower of average cost or 
market. Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when 
consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs 
applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid costs in both 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Surplus Properties - Surplus properties are recorded at the lower of acquisition 
cost or market. 

Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include property, plant, eqUipment, and 
infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported 
in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the 
Department of Roads as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $1 ,000 and 
an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets 
are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 

17
 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 201 'I 

Note I - Significant Accounting ,Policies (Continued) 

Capital assets are depredatedl using the straight-line method over the following 
useful lives: 

Buildings 50 years 
Land improvements 20 years 
Road and otner equipment 3-25 years 
Infrastructure 8... 50 years 

Compensated Absences (Vacation and Sick leave) - It is the Department of 
Roads' policy to permit empl'oyees to aCc'umulate eamed but unused sick and 
vacation pay benefits. The government-wide statement of net assets accrues all 
vacation and personal pay as it is earned and sick pay as it is used or vested 
(whichever is earlier). A liability for these amounts is reported in governmentaJ 
funds as it comes due for payment (when time is taken off or the employee is 
terminated). 

long-term Obligations - In the government-wide financial statements, lIang-term 
debt and otller long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable 
governmental activities. 

Use of Estimates: - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting prirnciples generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions, such as provisions for uninsured: 
losses. that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Pension and Other PostemploYOlent Benefit Costs - The Department of Roads 
offers both pension and retiree healthcare benefits to retirees. The Department of 
Roads receives an actuarial valuation to compute the annual reqUired contribution 
(ARC) necessary to fund the obligation over the remaining amortization period. In 
the governmental funds, pension aIld OPEB costs are recognized as contributions 
are made. For the government-wide statements and proprietary funds, the 
Department of Roads reports the full accrual cost equal to the current year required 
contribution, adjusted for interest and "adjustment to the ARC' on the beginning of 
year underpaid amount, if any. 

18 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 I I 

Note I - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Fund Equity - In March 2009, the GASB issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance 
Reporting and Governmental Fund-type Definitions. The objective of this statement is 
to enhance the usefulness of fund balance infonnation by providing clearer fund 
balance classifications that can be more consistently applied and by clarifying the 
existing governmental fund-type definitions. This statement establishes fund balance 
classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a 
government is bound to observe constraints imposed on the use of the resources 
reported in governmental funds. Under this standard, the fund balance dassifications 
of reserved, designated, and unreserved/undesignated were replaced with five new 
classifications - nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. The 
Department of Roads implemented GASB Statement No. 54 during the year. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report the follOWing 
components of fund balance: 

•	 Nonspendable - Amounts that are not in spendable form or are legally or 
contractually reqUired to be maintained intact. 

•	 Restricted - Amounts that are legally restricted by outside parties, constitutional 
provisions. or enabling legislation for use for a specific purpose. All of the 
Department of Roads' fund balance is legally restricted by Act 51 and related 
Michigan laws. 

•	 Committed - Amounts that have been formally set aside by the County Board of 
Commissioners for use for specific purposes. Commitments are made and can 
be rescinded only via resolution of the Board of Commissioners. 

•	 AsSigned - Intent to spend resources on specific purposes expressed by the 
governing body. 

•	 Unassigned - Amounts that do not fall into any other category above. This is the 
residual classification for amounts in the General Fund and represents fund 
balance that has not been assigned to other funds and has not been restricted, 
committed, or assigned to specific purposes in the General Fund. In other 
governmental funds, only negative unassigned amounts are reported, if any, and 
represent expenditures incurred for specific purposes exceeding the amounts 
preViously restricted, committed, or asSigned to those purposes. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Note 2. 

Notes to Financial statements 
September 30,2011 

Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial 
statements 

Amounts reported in the government-wide financial statements are different from 
amounts reported in the governmental funds because of the following: 

Governmental funds fund balance $ 54,346,565 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 
resources and are not reported in the funds 735,905,282 

State and local receivables are not available to pay for current 
year expenditures and are therefore deferred in the 
governmental funds 92,356 

Noncurrent compensated absences and provisions for workers' 
compensation uninsured losses are not reported 

in the funds (1,338,639) 

Note payable is not due and payable in the current period 
and is not reported in the funds (1,215,344) 

Other long-term assets, such as net OPEB assets and loans 
receivable, do not present an asset on current financial 
resources and are not reported as fund assets 3,646,347 

Intemal service funds are included as governmental activities 9,570,948 

Government-wide net assets $ 801,007,515 
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[Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, .20 I I 

Note 2. - Reconciltation of Government-wiG'e and Fund Financial 
Statements (Continued) 

Net change in fund balances - T0taJ! government f~nds $ (914,934) 

Governmental funds report capital outlay as an expenditure;
 
in the statement of activities, these costs are allocated
 
over their estimated usefut lives as depreciation:
 

Capital outlay expenditures 33,660,308 
Depreciation expense (38,379,363) 

In the governmental funds. state and local revenue not 
collected within 60 days of year end is not available to 
pay for' current year expenditures, whereas in the 
statement of activities, revenue is recognized when 

earned (35,025) 

In the statement or activities, land and roads ,released from 
developers are reported as revenue at the fair market 
value and the fIXed asset is capitalized 8,095,984 

Changes in aGcumulated employee sick and vacation pay are 
recorded when earned in the statement of activities and 
reported in the fund statements when they come due for 
payment 108,695 

Changes in, other liabilities, such as net OPES obligations, 
reported in the statement of activities do not require the 
use of currel1lt resources and are therefore not reported 
in the fllnd stcatements 1,267,619 

Internal service funds are also included as governmental 
aetiv:ities (165,034) 

Change in net assets of governmental activities $ 3,638,250 

Note 3 - StewardShi~ compliance, and Accountability 

The .annual budget is prepared by the finance director and adopted by the County 
Board of Commissioners; subsequent amendments are approved by the County 
Board of Commissioners. Unexpended appropriations lapse at year end; 
encumbrances are filot included as expenditures. The amount of encumbrances 
outstanding at September 30, 20 II has not been calculated. The budget was 
amended in a legally permissible manner. 
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Macomb County Department' of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 2.0 I I 

Note 3 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability (Continued) 

The Road Fund [budget has been adopted on an activity basis and prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; expenditures at this I'evel in excess of amounts budgeted are a violation of 
Michigan law. There were no significant budget variances ili1 the Road Fund. The 
budgetary comparison scnedule as presented on page II is shown om a condensed 
basis from the budget as formally adopted. Copies of the adopted budget are 
available for comparison at the Department of Roads offices. 

Note 4 - Deposits and Investments 

Michigan Compiled Laws Seet,ion 129.91 (Pub'lic Act 20 of 1943, as amended) 
autlilorizes local governmental units to make deposits and invest in the accounts of 
federally insured banks, credit unions. and savings and loan associations that have 
offices in Michigan. The Department of Roads is allowed to invest in bonds, 
securities, and other direct obligations of the United States or any agency or 
instrumentality of the United States; repurchase agreements; bankers' acceptances 
of United States banks; commerdal paper rated within the two highest 
classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; 
obligations of the State of Michig.an or its political subdivisions, which are rated as 
investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles that are legal' 
for direct investment by local units of government in Michigan. The Department of 
Roads has adopted an investment policy in accordance with the statutory authority. 

The Department of Roads has designated nine banks for the deposit of its funds. 
The investment policy adopted by the board in accordance with Public Act 196 of 
1997 has authorized investment in certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasury bills, and 
bank investment pools. but not the remainder of state statutory authority as listed 
above. The Department of Roads' deposits and investment policies are in 
accordance with statutory authority. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial statements 
September 30, 20I I 

Note 4 - Deposits and Investments (Continued) 

The, Department of Roads' cash and investments are subject to custodial credit risk, 
which is examined in more detail below: 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Department of 
Roads' deposits may not be returned to it. The Department of Roads has adopted a 
deposit policy for custodial credit risk which limits the Department of Roads' 
investment in an individual institution to no more than I percent of the institution's 
equity and no more than 15 percent of the Department of Roads' total deposit 
balance. At year end, $52,556,553 of the Department of Roads' total deposit 
balance (certificates of deposit, checking. and savings accounts) of $52,748,673 was 
uninsured and uncollateralized. The Department of Roads believes that due to the 
dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it is impractical to 
insure all deposits. As a result, the Department of Roads evaluates each financial 
institution with which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each 
institution; only those institutions wrth an acceptabJe estimated risk level are used as 
depositories. 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the Department of Roads will not be able to recover the value of its investments or 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Department 
of Roads does not have a policy for custodial credit risk. At year end, the 
department was invested in two money market funds and therefore had no credit 
risk. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

N,otes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 I I 

Note S - Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for tile current year was as follows: 

Governmental Activities 

Beginning 

Balance Additions 

Disposalsl 

Adjustments 

Ending 

Balance 

Capital assets not being 

depreciated - Land $ 194,134,333 $ 4.503,028 $ $ 198,637,361 

Capital assets being depreciated: 

Land improvements 

Buildings 

Road equipmem: 

Other equipment 

Infrastructure 

1,399,134 

25,395,952 

24,589,591 

4,423,087 

976,614",,07 

20.257 

1,482,099 

473,694 

35,369,694 

40,900 

284,000 

584,479 

46,861 

1,358,234 

25,132,209 

25,487,211 

4,849,920 

1,0 I 1,983,80 I 

S~btotal ! ,032,421 ,871 37.345,744 956,240 I ,068,81 I ,375 

less accumulated depreciation for: 

Land improvements 

Buildings 

Road equipment 

Other equipment 

Infrastructure 

1,020,335 

7,358,155 

21,398,308 

3,128.418 

461,122,635 

60,903 

505,452 

1,289,321 

280.533 

36,243.154 

36,291 

201,640 
581,235 

44.594 

1,044,947 

7,66\ ,967 

22, [06,394 

3,364,357 

497.365,789 

Subtotal 494,027,85 I 38,379.363 863,76{) 531,543,454 

Net capital assets being 

depreciated 538,394,020 (I ,033,619) 92,480 537,267,921 

Net capital assets $ 732,528,353 $ 3,469,409 S 92,480 $ 735,905,282 

Construction Commitments - The Department of Roads has 25 significant active 
projects at year end witn an estimated obli,gation to the Department of Roads of 
$10,491,845. The Department of Roads' cumulative expenditures and estimated 
remaining commitment with these contractors as of September 30, 20 I I are 
$7,664,348' and $2,827,496, respectively, 

Note 6 - Risk Management 

The Department of Roads is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, 
torts, errors and omissions, and employee injuries (workers' compensation). as well 
as medical benefits provided to employees. The Department of Roads has 
purchased commercial' insurance for medical benefits prOVided to employees but is 
self-funded for general liability tncidents and workers' compensation claims up to a 
retention ·amount, at which time the Department of Roads' reinsurance begins. 
Retention amounts during the year ended September 30, 20111 were $5,000,000 and 
$325,000 for general liability and workers' compensation, respectively. Settled 
claims relating to the commercia! insurance have not exceeded the amount of 
insurance coverage in any of the past four fiscal years. 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 1011 

Note 6 .. Risk Management (Continued) 

General Liability Claims 

Beginning january 17, 1993, the Department of Roads assumes costs for general 
liability claims, including all costs associated with those claims, within certain limits. 
The Department of Roads is liable for losses up to a retention amount per claim and 
is liable for losses in excess of the maximum insurance coverage. 

The Department of Roads estimates the liability for general liability claims that have 
been incurred through the end of the fiscal year, including both those claims that 
have been reported as well as those that have not yet been reported. The 
Department of Roads has been named a defendant in numerous claims and lawsuits 
requesting damages of various amounts, the majority of which do not state a specific 
maximum. It is the opinion of legal counsel and management that reasonable 
estimates of the Department of Roads' liability for these matters have been 
recorded in the General Uability Self-insurance Fund as outlined below. 

Changes lin the estimated recorded liability for the past two fiscal years were as 
follows: 

2011 2010 

Estimated liability - Beginning of year $ 40,743 $ 76,599 

Increase in estimated claims incurred, 

including changes in estimates 29,966 (30,635) 

Claim payments (21,121) (5,221 ) 

Estimated liability ~ End of year $ 49,588 $ 40,743 

There are also certain property damage-related lawsuits currently pending against 
the Department of Roads daiming amounts for damages and relief without stated 
limitations. These lawsuits have not yet progressed to the point where a legal 
opinion can be reached as to the ultimate liability, if any, which may result from the 
resolution of these cases. In the opinion of Department of Roads' management and 
legal counsell, the probable additional exposure of the Department of Roads for 
these lawsuits or any other legal matter is immaterial to the financial statements. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30,2011 

Note 6 - Risk Management (Continued) 

Workers' Compensation Claims 

The Department of Roads assumes costs for workers' compensation claims within 
certain limits. 

The Department of Roads estimates the liability for workers' compensation claims 
that have been incurred through the end of the fiscal year, including both those 
daims that have been report,ed as well as those that have not yet been reported. 
The current portion of these estimates is recorded in the Road Fund. The 
government-wide balance sheet/statement of net assets includes the current and 
long-term portions of these estimates. Changes in the estimated liability for the past 
two f!,seal years were as follows: 

2011 2010 

Estimated liability - Beginning of year $ 181,790 $ 428,100 

Incliease (decrease) in estimated claims 

incurred, including changes in estimates 29,590 (129,690) 

Claim payments (84,620) (116,620) 

Estimated liability - End of year $ 126,760 $ 181,790 

Note 7 - Other Postemployment Benefits 

The Department of Roads prOVides retiree healthcare benefits to eligible employees 
and their spouses through the tM'acomb County Department of Roads Retiree Health 
Care Plan (tile "Plan"). This IS an agent multiple-employer defined benefit plan 
administered by the Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan (MERS). 
The benefits are prOVided under collective bargaining agreements. 

The collective bargaining agreements require no contribution from employees. The 
Department of Roads has no obligation to make contributions in advance oi when 
the insurance, premiums are due for payment (in other words, this may be financed 
on a "pay-as-you-go" basis). However, as shown below, the Department of Roads 
has made contributions to advance~fund these benefits, as determined by the 
County Board of Commissioners through annual budget resolutions. 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
1september 30,20 11 

Note 7 - other Postemployment Benefits (Continued) 

For the year ended September 30, 20 II, the Department of Roads has estimated 
the cost of providing retiree healthcare benefits through all actuarial valuation as of 
December 31,2009. The valuation computes an annual required contribution, which 
represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover 
normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period 
not to exceed 30 years. This valuation's computed contribution and actual funding 
are summarized as follows: 

Annual required contribution (recommended) $ 5,765,799 

Amounts contributed: 
Payments of current premiums and other adjustments 4,033,418 
Advance funding 3,000,000 

Increase In net OPEB asset 1,267,619 

OPEB asset - Beginning of year 1,163,384 

OPEB asset - End of year $ 2,431,003 

The annual other postemployment benefits (OPEB) costs, the percentage 
contributed to the Plan, and the net OPEB asset for the years ended September 30 
were as follows: 

2011 2010 2009 

Annual OPEB costs $ 5,765,799 $ 6,617,951 $ 6,302,811 
Percentage contributed 121.99% 103.46% 131.02% 
Net OPEB asset $ 2,431,003 $ 1,163,384 $ 934,427 

The funding progress of the Plan is as follows: 

2009 2007 

Valuation as of December 31: 

Actuarial value of assets $ 15,047,927 $ 9,621,290 

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 83,364,455 $ 87,898,593 

Unfunded AAL (UAAL) $ 68,316,528 $ 78,277,303 

Funded ratio 18°,,6 11°,,6 

Annual covered payroll $ 14,421,101 $ 14,621,336 

Ratio of UAAL to covered payroll 4740/0 535% 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 I I 

Note 7 .. other Postemployment Benef'1ts (Colitinued) 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the 
future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the 
healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the Plan 
and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual 
revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are 
made about the future. 

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive 
plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include 
the types of benefits prOVided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern 
of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. 
The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to 
reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued' liabiliti.es and the 
actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
cal culations. 

In the December 31, 2009 actuarial valuation, the entry age actuarial cost method 
was used. The actuarial assumptions included an 8 percent investment rate of return 
(net of administrative expenses), and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 
9 percent initially, reduced by decrements to an ul'timate rate of 5 percent after 10 
years. Both rates included a 5 percent inflation assumption. The actuarial value of 
assets was determined using techniques that spread the effects of short-term 
vO'!atHity in the market value of investments over a five-year period. The UAAL is 
being amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on an open basis. The 
remaining amortization period at December 31, 2009 was 28 years. 

Note 8 .. Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Pia!) Description 

The Department of Roads contributes to the MacomlD County Employees' 
Rebrement System, an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that 
covers all full-time employees of the Department of Roads. The Macomb County 
Employees' Retirement System provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to 
plan members and their beneficiaries. The Macomb County Employees' Retirement 
System issues a publicly available financial report that includes financiaJ statements 
and required supplemental informatioliil for the Macomb County Employees' 
Retirement System. That report may be obtained by writing to the Retirement 
Commission at 10 N. Main, Mt. Clemens, Micl:ligall48043. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
September 30, 20 I I 

Note 8 - Defined Benefit Pension 'Plan (Continued) 

Funding Policy 

The obligation to contribute to and maintain the Macomb County Employees' 
Retirement System for these empl'oyees was established by negotiation with the 
Department of Roads' competitive bargaining units and requires a contribution of 3,5 
percent of gross wages for all employees. 

Annual Pension Cost 

For the valuation year ended December 31. 2010, the Department of Roads' annual 
pension cost of $2,053,642 for the plan was equal to the Department of Roads' 
required and actual contribution of $2,053,642 which was remitted to the County of 
Macomb. The annual required contribution was determined as part of an actuarial 
valuation at December 31, 20 I0, using the entry actual age cost method. Significant 
actuarial assumptions used include (a) a 7.5 percent investment rate of return. (b) 
projected salary increases of 5 percent per year, compounded annually and 
attributable to inflation, (c) additional projected salary increases of up to 
6 percent per year, depending on service and attributable to seniority/merit, and (d) 
the assumption that benefits will not increase after retirement. The actuarial value 
of assets was determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-term 
volatility over a five-year period. The remaining UML (or overfunding) was 
amortized by level percentage of payroll contributions over 20 years, 

Additional pension plan information for the Department of Roads is as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended September 30 

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

Annual pension cost (APe) $ 1,862,349 $ 2.042.613 $ 2.055,174 $ 2,310,528 $ 2,665,713 $ 2,903,247 
Percentage of APe contributed \00% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
Net peosion obligation $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Valuation Year Ended December 31 

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Actuarial val ue of assets $ 104.750,389 $ 106,170.601 $ I06.261 .605 $ 107,036,782 $ 100,222,610 $ 93,200.366 
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 

(e1ltry age) 
$ 112.519,9JI $ 100,359.057 $ 105,081,508 $ 104,826,656 $ 98,836,355 $ 97,873,919 

(Underfunded) overfunded AAl $ (7.769,542) $ (2,188,456) $ 1,179,097 $ 2,210,124 $ 1,386,255 $ (4,673,553) 

FOSId ed ratio 93.09% 97.98% 101.12% 102.11% 10lAO% 95.22% 
Covered payroll $ IJ,11-1,747 $ 14,421,101 $ 14,449,299 $ 14,621,336 $ 15,297,100 $ 15,788,396 
UAAl as a percentage of covered 

payroll 59.11% 15.18% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 29.600/0 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
september 30, 20 I I 

Note 9 -Intended Use of Fund ~ance 

Under Michigan law, all fund bal!ance related to the Department of Roads is legally 
restricted for roads. However, the County has identified the following more specific 
purposes on which it intends to utilize its resources: 

Nonmajor 

Major Fund - Fund - Capital 

Road Fund Projects Fund 

Subsequent year's expenditures 

Pending litigation 

Bridge projects 

T raffle signal upgrades 

Pavement management study 

Sign inventory 

County-wide pavement repair 

Road widening/congestion relief 

Guardrail replacement 

Administrative site paving and renovation 

Service center renovations 

$ 8,763,523 
250,000 

16.000,000 
3.000,000 

950,000 
900,000 

13.500,000 
9,051,359 

500,000 

$ 250,000 

250,000 
931.683 

Total $ 52,914,882 $ 1,431,683 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the Road Fund (the 
Department of Roads' only major fund), and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of Macomb County, Michigan) (the 
"Department of Roads") as of and for the year ended September 30, 20 I I, which collectively 
comprise the Department of Roads' basic financial statements, and have issued our report 
thereon dated March 7, 2012. These basic financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Department of Roads' management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these basic 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conduaed our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
bask financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis. evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
oL!lr audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Department of Roads' basic financial statements, The accompanying 
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for the purpose of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements, The information in this schedule has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and, in our opinion. is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

March 7,2012 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the Road Fund (the 
Department of Roads' only major fund), and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of Macomb County, Michigan) (the 
"Department of Roads") as of and for the year ended September 30, 20 II, which collectively 
comprise the Department of Roads' basic financial statements, and have issued our report 
thereon dated M,arch 7, 2012. We have conducted our audit in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
finandaJ audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Department of Roads' internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Department of Roads' internal control over finandal 
reporting. Accordingly, we. do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Department of 
Roads' internal] control over financial reporting. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing t1wir assigned functions, to 
prevent or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
pOSSibility that a material misstatement of the Department of Roads' financial statements will not 
be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or 
material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial 
reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. 
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To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Department of Roads' financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts. and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 
However, prOViding an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are reqUired to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 

This report is intended solely for the infonnation and use of management. the County Executive 
and Board of Commissioners, others within the Department of Roads, federal awarding 
agencies. and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 

March 7, 2012 
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Report on Compliance with Requirements That Could Have a
 
Direct and Material Effect on the Major Program and on
 

Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance with OMS Circular A-133
 

Independent Auditor's Report
 

To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

Compliance 

We have audited the compliance of the Macomb County Department of Roads (a department of 
Macomb County, Michigan) (the "Department of Roads") with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal 
program for the year ended September 30, 20 I I. The major federal program of the 
Department of Roads is identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to its major federal program is the 
responsibility of the Department of Roads' management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Department of Roads' compliance based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and 
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those 
standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain. 
reasonable assurallce about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program 
occurred. An audit indl!!Jdes examining, .on a test basis, evidence about the Department of 
Roads' compliance with those requirements and 'Performing such other procedures as we 
cOl1sidered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. Our audit does not prOVide a legal determination on the Department of 
Roads' compliance with those requirements. 

In our opinion, the Macomb County Department of Roads complied, in all material respects, 
with the compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect 
on its major federal program for the year ended September 30, 20 II. However, the results of 
our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance with those reqUirements that is 
required to be reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Finding 20 II-I. 
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To the County ~xecutive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

Internal Control Over Compliance 

The management of the Department of Roads is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
effective internal control over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to federal programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the 
Department of Roads' internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a 
direct and materi·aJ effect on a major federal program in order to determine our auditing 
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with OMS Circular A-133, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. 
Accordingly. we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Department of Roads' 
internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees. in the normal course of performing 
their asSigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance such that there is a reasonable pOSSibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented or detected and corrected 
on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiendes in internal 
control over compliance that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material 
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we 
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, we identified a certain 
deficiency in internal control over compliance that we consider to be a Significant deficiency as 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as Finding 20 I I-I. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance. 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

The Department of Roads' response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. We did not audit the Department of 
Roads' response and, accordingly. we express no opinion on it. 
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To the County Executive and 
Board of Commissioners 

Macomb County Department of Roads 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the County Executive 
and Board of Commissioners, others within the Department of Roads. federal awarding 
agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 

March 7, 2012 
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Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended September 30, 20 I I 

Federal 

Federal Agency/Pass-through Agency/Program Title CFDA Number Award Amount Expenditures 

U. S. Department of Transportation - Federal 

Highway Administration - Passed through 

the Michigan Department of Transportation

Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 20.205 $ 1,852,143 $ 1,852,143 

See Note to Schedule of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards. 7 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Note to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Note I - Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes 
the federal grant activity of Macomb County Department of Roads under programs of 
the federal govemment for the year ended September 30, 20 I I . Expenditures reported 
on the Schedule are reported on the same basis of accounting as the basic financial 
statements, although the basis for determining when federal awards are expended is 
presented in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits ofStates, 
Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. In addition, expenditures reported on 
the Schedule are recognized folloWing the cost principles contained in OMB Circular A
87. wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement. Therefore, some amounts presented in this Schedule may differ from 
amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial statements. 

Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of Macomb 
County Department of Roads. it IS not intended to and does not present the financial 
position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of Macomb County Department of Roads. 
Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available. 
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year ,Ended September 30,1011 

Section I .. Summ,ary of AUditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor's report issued: Unqualified 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

•	 Material weakness(es.) identified? Yes X No 

•	 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are 
not considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial 
statements noted? Yes X No 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major programs: 

•	 Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No 

•	 Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are 
not considered to be material weaknesses? X Yes None reported 

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: Unqualified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
to be reported in accordance with 
Section 51 O(a) of Circular A-133? X Yes No 

Identification of major program: 

CFDA Number	 Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

20.205	 U.S. Department of Transportation - Federal Highway 
Administration - Passed through Michigan Department of 
Transportation - Highway Planning and Construction Cluster 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs: $300,000 

Auditee qualified as Jow-risk auditee?	 X Yes No 



Macomb County Department of Roads
 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 
Year Ended September 30, 20 I I 

Section II	 - Financial statement Audit Findings 

None 

Section III Federal Program Audit Findings 

Reference 

Number Finding 

2011-1	 Pf'logram Name Highway Planning amd Construction Cluster 
CFDA # 20.205 

Pass"throllgh Entity - Michigan Department of T rarrsportation 

Findililg Type - Significant deficiency and material noncompliance with laws 
and regulations 

Criteria - Government-wide requirements for suspension and debarment 
are contained in the OMIB guidance in 2 CFR Part 180. OMB gUidance 
requires that for procurement contracts and goods and services that are 
expected to equal or exceed $25,000, the grantee must verify that the party 
being awarded a procurement contract is not suspended, debarred. or 
otl1erwise excluded by checking the list of excluded parties, obtaining 
certification from the contractor or seller, or including a clause or condition to 
the covered transaction with that entity. 

Condition The Department of Roads did not verify that all parties being p 

awarded procurements were not suspended, debarred, or otherwise 
excluded when the Department of Roads hired contractors to provide 
materials greater than $25,000 to be used for construction projects. 

Questioned Costs - None - Upon review of the excluded parties listing 
subsequent to year end, it was determined that Ilone of the parties that were 
awarded' procuremellts were excluded parties. 

Cootext - During the audit, we selected a sample of three vendors that were 
disbursed amOunts in excess of $25,000 during the year by the Department of 
Roads for goods or services used for the Traffic Operations Center. It was 
noted that verification was not made that the vendor is not suspended or 
debarred for the three vendors tested. 

Cause and Effect - TIle cause of the finding was due to internal control 
procedures over suspenSion and debarment requirements not operating 
effectively, as required compli<Ylce activities were not addressed in all 
instances. The effect of the finding IS that failure to monitor suspension and 
debarment could cause funds to be disbursed to contractors who are not 
eligible to have goods purchased with federal monies. 

10 
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Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued) 
Year Ended September 30,1011 

Section III - Federal Program Audit Findings (Continued) 

Reference 
Number Finding 

2011~ I 
(Continued) Recommendation - Internal control procedures should be created and 

enforced to ensure that the appropriate suspension and debarment 
verifications are performed for all vendors providing materials or services in 
excess of $25,000. 

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Correctrve Actions 
Procedures will be expanded to verify that the suppliers and contractors hired 
by the Department of Roads to provide materials or services in excess of 
$25,000 are not suspended or debarred by the federal government. 



Macomb ICounty Department of Roads
 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 
Year Ended September 30, 201 I 

Prior Year 
Finding 

Number Federal Program 

20 I0-1 Program Name - Highway Planning and Construaion Cluster 20.205 

Original Finding Description - The Department of Roads did not verify that 
all parties being awarded procurements were not suspended, debarred, or 
otherwise excluded when the Department of Roads hired contractors to 
provide materials greater than $25,000 to be used for construction projects. 

Status - In progress 

Planned Cor,rect'ive Action ~ In future years, procedures will be expanded 
to verify that the suppliers and contractors hired by the Department of Roads 
to prOVide materials or servi.ces in excess of $25,000 are not suspended or 
debarred by tile federal government. 

12
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